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 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Good morning, and thank you for your attendance this morning 

at this hearing of the Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee. What I would like to do is begin 

with the Pledge of Allegiance. Please join me. 

 (The Pledge of Allegiance was recited was recited by members and visitors.) 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: The dairy industry is the largest sector of Pennsylvania's 

agricultural community. The agricultural community is the largest industry in Pennsylvania. 

There are many challenges facing the dairy industry, and we have a new session, a new 

administration, a new Secretary of Agriculture, and we are taking a new, fresh look at the dairy 

industry. 

 We had a novel approach that rather than making decisions and then holding hearings we 

would hold hearings to educate the members of the Committee and the public. 

 We have a broad panel today covering the entire arc of the industry. We have 20 

individuals who have volunteered their time and trouble today to come and help educate us. The 

goal, again, is education. We are seeking today comments that will help educate. They may well 

illuminate points and issues of concern, but today is not really a day to advocate. We are trying 

to establish a base-level of understanding so that we as a Committee can proceed with a basic 

knowledge. 

 With 20 individuals here to testify, it is going to be important that we are mindful of the 

clock. So those who are testifying, at this corner, currently you see Mary Geiger and Mary or her 

colleague will be present, and during your period for testimony you will see a green card. When 

you have 2-minutes remaining you will see a yellow card, and when you have 1-minute 

remaining you will have a red card. I hope you will not need to get to the moment when there is 

no red card, because I do have my Farm Show commemorative cow bell. 



 I also need to let you all know that this meeting is being recorded and may be broadcast 

by PCN (Pennsylvania Cable Network).  

 We are very fortunate today to have an addition to our agenda. The nominee to serve as 

Secretary of Agriculture, Secretary-nominee George Greig is with us. George, Mr. Secretary, 

would you please say a couple of words? 

 SECRETARY GREIG: Thank you, Chairman Maher. I appreciate your out-put, your 

outlook, and your input and your attention to Pennsylvania agriculture. I look forward to serving 

all of agriculture. I am a reformed dairy farmer from Crawford County, but plan on serving all of 

agriculture and I have another meeting State College so you are aware that I cannot stay, but I 

just wanted to come down and say "hi" to all of these great dairy people and the people that are 

interested in the dairy industry in Pennsylvania. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Well, on behalf of the Committee, I want to thank you for 

making an alteration to your schedule so that you could be with us today to introduce yourself to 

the members of the Committee and I am sure the representatives of the dairy industry that are 

here are very happy to see you as well.  

 Thank you very much. 

 SECRETARY GREIG: Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Before we begin with our panels, I am going to ask the members 

of the Committee who are present to simply introduce themselves. I would ask that you try to 

refrain from flowery addresses. 

 Mr. Moul. 

 REPRESENTATIVE MOUL: Good morning. I am State Representative Dan Moul from 

the 91st District. That is Adams and Franklin Counties. 



 REPRESENTATIVE KORTZ: Good morning, everyone. Bill Kortz, 38th District, 

Allegheny County. 

 REPRESENTATIVE MILLARD: Good morning. David Millard, 109th District, 

Columbia County. 

 REPRESENTATIVE HICKERNELL: Dave Hickernell, 98th District, Lancaster and 

Dauphin Counties. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: Good morning. Michele Brooks, 17th Legislative 

District, portions of Mercer, Crawford, and Lawrence Counties. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BOBACK: Good morning. Karen Boback, District 117, parts of 

Luzerne, Wyoming, and Columbia Counties. 

 MR. HOWES: Jay Howes, Committee staff for Representative Maher. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: I am John Maher, Chairman of the Agriculture Committee. 

 CHAIRMAN PETRARCA: Joe Petrarca, Westmoreland and Armstrong Counties. 

 REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: Mark Keller, the 86th District which is Perry and 

Franklin County 

 REPRESENTATIVE LAWRENCE: John Lawrence from southern Chester County, the 

13th District. 

 REPRESENTATIVE TOBASH: Good morning. Mike Tobash, 125th District, that is 

Schuylkill and a portion of Berks County. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BLOOM: Stephen Bloom, 199th District, which is the western part 

of Cumberland County. 

 REPRESENTATIVE KAVULICH: Good morning. Sid Michaels Kavulich, the 114th 

District, Lackawanna, Luzerne, Susquehanna and Wyoming Counties. 



 REPRESENTATIVE MIRABITO: Rick Mirabito, 83rd District, Lycoming County. 

 REPRESENTATIVE CONKLIN: Scott Conklin, 77th District, western Centre County. 

 REPRESENTATIVE KULA: Good morning. Deberah Kula, 52nd District, Fayette and 

Westmoreland Counties. 

 REPRESENTATIVE EVERETT: Garth Everett, 84th, Lycoming County. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you.  

 If our first panel could situate yourselves, those will be Mr. John Frey, who is the 

Executive Director of the Center for Dairy Excellence; and Ms. Lolly Lesher, the President for 

the Center for Dairy Excellence Board of Directors. 

 You will have 20 minutes. 

 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FREY: Good morning Chairman Maher, members of the 

House Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee. Thank you so much for holding this hearing on 

the state of the dairy industry in Pennsylvania.  

 My name is John Frey, I am the Director at the Center. The Center is an initiative of the 

Pennsylvania Dairy Task Force. To give you a little bit of history, it was created by leadership 

and resources to the dairy industry in Pennsylvania.  

 Few industries are as vast in size and as significant as dairy. In large part, that is because 

the fabric of this industry is woven throughout all of rural Pennsylvania. It impacts every region 

well beyond the farm. Today you have an outstanding lineup of industry experts, and I 

compliment the lineup that exists and I am very pleased to be part of that. 

 For the next few minutes, the Center's Board Chair Lolly Lesher and I are going to work 

together to provide an overview of the dairy industry, examine the industry's role in 

Pennsylvania and give you an inside look at Way-Har Farms, a farm not unlike a lot of the 7400 



operations across the Commonwealth and then lastly to look briefly at how the Center for Dairy 

Excellence works to support our 7400 dairy farms. 

 If you could turn your attention to the PowerPoint that is over here on the screen to the 

right, your left. Just to serve as a bit of a backdrop, I am going to provide some numbers to, I 

think, help illustrate the size and scope of the dairy industry in Pennsylvania in relation to the 

rest of the country. 

 Pennsylvania ranks number five in terms of total milk production, States that rank above 

us – there are two in the west, California and Idaho, in the Midwest Wisconsin, and then New 

York just north of us here in the northeast. Pennsylvania is responsible for approximately 6% of 

the U.S. milk supply and ranks number two in terms of number of dairy farms. Only Wisconsin 

has more dairy farms than Pennsylvania. 

 Turn the slide to give you a little bit more information on some of those numbers. One of 

the things that we talk a lot about at the Center is the reality that Pennsylvania is a net exporter of 

dairy. Nearly 50% of the milk that we produce in this State gets sold outside of the State and as 

we often say goes to feed the Mid-Atlantic and South Atlantic seaboard regions of the country. 

That picture helps illustrate some of that. 

 Approximately $2 billion is generated in milk sales in an annual basis in Pennsylvania, 

and obviously that changes with the price of milk but based on projections for the next 6 months, 

that is a number that is pretty accurate. If you use the two-and-a-half times economic multiplier 

that represents about a $5 billion intact in Pennsylvania. 

 A number of years ago a study was done in the Midwest to try to quantify the number of 

jobs associated with this industry. In the Midwest this study suggested that for every nine dairy 

cows, one job is created, retained, or supported across the industry. Based on the number of cows 



in Pennsylvania that would be about 60,000 jobs that the dairy industry supports, and of course 

that includes on-farm employment, it includes on-farm support like veterinary care, feed, 

nutrition, seeds, supplies, accounting, banking, transportation, and of course, the processing side 

of the industry. 

 One example I like to talk about is just south of here, the Turkey Hill operation that 

makes the leading brand of ice cream in the country, has just over 1,000 people employed by that 

organization right here in southeast Pennsylvania. 

 If you could turn to the next slide, please. To drill down on some of those numbers just a 

bit, if you look from left to right in the top line from 1970 – 2010, in 1970 this dairy industry in 

Pennsylvania had about 30,000 dairy farms, today, 7400. To put that in context, in 1970 in the 

United States we had 650,000 dairy farms and today there is 10% of that, between 60-65,000. So 

the rate attrition in Pennsylvania has been somewhat less than the rate nationally.  

 The number of cows in 1970, just over 700,000 in Pennsylvania, today just under 

550,000. Probably the most important metric that we look at routinely is the number, the amount 

of milk that is produced here in Pennsylvania. 7.1 billion pounds in 1970, peaking in the year 

2000 at 11.1 billion, and today it is 10.7 billion. I might add that in about 2000 when we began to 

see a regression from 11 billion to just under 10 billion pounds of milk was when our industry 

took a real hard look at the resources that we were providing the industry and that is when the 

Diary Task Force was formulated. 

 We have already talked about the job number, next slide, please. Just to give you an 

overview of the density of where the farms are located in Pennsylvania, the dark green colors 

represent the highest density of where the farms are located and obviously the white area would 

be where there are no dairy farms. The number one County in Pennsylvania for dairy farms is 



Lancaster, number two is Franklin, number three would be north to Bradford County, and then 

the next four would be back south to Lebanon, Berks, Chester, and Cumberland, and then you 

would move to Blair County would be the number eight county for diary, and then moving west 

to Somerset County and then north to Crawford County rounds out the top ten Counties for the 

number of dairy farms. Next slide, please. 

 The next two slides, I believe, do the best job of depicting how this industry has evolved 

over the last 40 or 50-years. I call this a 1950s version of the dairy operation, it makes a beautiful 

postcard but if you are a dairy cow, not a place you would like to spend a lot of time. Poor 

ventilation, probably poor cow comfort and animal care capabilities, and most importantly, not 

the kind of place that the next generation of young people looked at and said, that is where I want 

to build my future. 

 Next slide, please. This is a more modern version of a dairy operation in Pennsylvania, 

and I like this picture because in the far left you see some remnants of the 1950 operation and in 

the middle you see some remnants of the 1970 operation when they went from probably 30 cows 

to perhaps 100 cows, and then the building on the right was just constructed about 3-years ago 

and is home to about 300 cows. You see approximately 30 ventilation fans which provide for an 

almost minute-by-minute air exchange. The comfort and care provided to cattle in that type of 

environment is superior, and most important that is the type of environment the next generation 

says, I can get excited about this industry. 

 Next slide, please. My next two slides depict what the sense of mentality is, if you will, 

on today's dairy farms. Number one, it is clearly a business, and number two, it is a way of life. 

Back to point number one, you need it to be a business. All dairy farms are pursuing new 

technology that is available. They are pursuing improved efficiency and productivity, being able 



to compete in a very competitive market. We believe the future opportunities for the dairy 

industry in Pennsylvania are frankly enormous. Just last week at our Pennsylvania Dairy Summit 

we had someone talk about future food needs and the reality that in the year 2050 we are going 

to need to produce two-times as much food to meet world food demand as we are able to produce 

today. One other mention on future opportunities, clearly the tremendous opportunity around 

renewable energy. Next slide. 

 Lastly, if you talk to any of the 7400 dairy producers today this is a short list of what they 

are thinking about. Managing volatible margins, managing impacted by a world market. The 

need for business planning and the need for financial management, the need for decisionmaking 

resources which was one of the numerous things we provide at the Center. The reality that they 

want to be able to grow to accommodate multiple generations, and lastly, the need for continuous 

learning in increasingly complex dairy environments. 

 I am going to transition now to introduce our Board Chair, Lolly Lesher, Lolly runs a 

very successful dairy operation in Berks County and she is going to give you an inside look at a 

dairy operation here in Pennsylvania. Lolly. 

 PRESIDENT LESHER: Good morning, ladies and gentleman, and thank you so much for 

the opportunity to visit with you. My job today is to put a personal face on the industry so you 

can realize what I do, what my family does, and what so many dairy farmers in Pennsylvania do 

to bring wholesome and safe milk to consumers. 

 My husband and I are the fifth generation on our dairy farm. The family bought the farm 

in 1952. We milk 120 cows, we own 220 acres and rent an additional 400 acres. We are unique, 

we are one of 20 operations in Pennsylvania that bottle and retail-sell their own milk from their 

own cows in their own retail store. So that makes us a little bit unique. 



 Our total business brings in about $1.5 million gross annually, that means we contribute 

$3.7million to the local economy of Berks County and all of those people that we employ. 

 If you think about the daily farm routine, it is just like caring for an infant. Those cows 

need me to do everything. I take care of their food, I take care of their water, we milk them, at 

our farm we milk every nine-and-a-half hours, because we cannot be—  some milk eight, some 

milk 12, we do nine-and-a-half because everything we do is a little bit different. We have a 

comprehensive care for the cows that is totally dependent upon my family and our hired help. If 

you think about dairy farming, think about it in terms of how a family takes care of an infant. 

That is how we look at taking care of the farm family. Next slide, please. 

 Our family has several teams. Here you see a picture of my husband, my father-in-law, 

my son standing by the combine. The basic family is William and Lolly. I have a son Josh, 

Jaylene, Laura, and Olivia and we have an external team, a veterinarian, our milk handler, a 

nutritionist, an accountant, a geneticist, and most importantly our lender. We deal with our 

banker every day. When we are having losses of 70% of our income in 2009, I had to have a 

really good relationship with my banker. I was talking to him weekly, saying, this is where we 

are at, this is what we are going to do to see through that we do not eat up all of our equity at that 

time. Next slide, please. 

 If you look specifically at the farm side of our business, we have 120 cows, in gross 

numbers about $400,000 sales annually. That supports 13 jobs. Maybe they are at Clover Farms, 

maybe they are at the cheese plant, but they are related farms. We contribute $1.64 million to our 

regional economy.  

 Next slide. Looking at the diary store, our store was built 40-years ago. My father-in-law 

saw the opportunity that the Pennsylvania Milk Marketing Board afforded us. The Milk 



Marketing Board is a great asset, and because of that organization we are truly in business. My 

husband and I believe that thoroughly. We have $1.1 million in gross sales, we have our milk 

and some ice cream that I would say is just as good as Turkey Hill ice cream, and bakery 

products, if you look at it locally we have $2.75 million that goes back into our local economy. I 

will say it is fun working with teenagers, we get to teach them how to handle a broom and what 

it is for, I have had young ladies walk in the door never knowing what a broom was. Next slide, 

please. 

 Here you can see our farm is a pasture operation. Our children are deeply involved in the 

operation and this is something that the girls and I can do together, go out and bring the cows in, 

and it looks like the United Nation if you look at it. We have Holsteins, Jerseys, Brown Swiss, 

Ayrshires, and Milking Shorthorns. That helps with our manure management program and also 

our harvesting operations by using rotational grazing. 

 Next slide. This is team member number one. This is Joshua, he is 18-years-old. Josh is a 

senior at Tulpehocken High School. This summer he borrowed $50,000 to buy a 20-year-old 

combine. That means a brand new one would have cost over $350,000, mom and dad would not 

have signed that note. He went to the lender and borrowed the money and he started his own 

custom business along with being a senior in high school. He harvested over 1,000 acres in his 

senior year and paid his mortgage, and paid all of his interest payments, and is doing very well. 

This is a young man that is a devoted worker. We have a dedicated work force here in 

Pennsylvania, and the opportunities are tremendous. The opportunities will continue to hinge on 

our ability to get capital. It is really important. Farming is expensive. You will hear more from 

other producers that are on the panel today, but Josh is just one part of the business with custom 

harvest but there are a lot of opportunities for those that want to work hard. 



 Next slide, please. This is my daughter Jaylene. She is our public relations person and she 

is also our calf care person. She strongly believes in advocating the industry and telling people 

and communicating to them about the industry itself. We participate in numerous fairs and shows 

throughout the Commonwealth because we think they are important. The benefits of the fairs, the 

All-American, the Farm Show are three-fold. One, it is public education. We get questions all of 

the time, how horrifying. You have tied those cows up to those machines 24-hours-a-day. 

Wrong. Wrong. We can help you understand this. So education is important. Second, it is sales. 

My family is a selling business. We sell milk, we sell ice cream. At the fairs, the shows, we sell 

product. The Granges sell product, and we also merchandise cattle. Next, please. 

 Jaylene is our calf raiser. Here you can see she takes good care of her calves and that is 

her part of the operation. Next. 

 My daughter Laura and her cow Twilight. Laura is into genetics and breeding. She also 

does a lot with the selling and merchandising of cattle. She will finance her college education by 

selling embryos. Next. 

 Again, you see a picture of Laura and Twilight. I said sales are important, and this is one 

thing that she is really into, is genetics. As a matter of fact, she is lined up to go to a sale 

tomorrow to buy some new breeding stock if things work out well. 

 Next. Our littlest is Olivia. Olivia, do not be fooled here. She might be little but she really 

is directing that animal. Her investment is going to come more in the future without a doubt. As 

John said, we will need to double the amount of food we produce by 2050. There are 

opportunities galore for Olivia to be able to help do that if we have the right resources available 

and are able to mitigate our risk. Next. 

 Here you see a picture of Olivia, she was at the Farm Show, this was on the cover of one 



of the newspapers because we want people to understand that we care for our animals, we care 

for our land, we care for our environment. Anybody that thinks that farmers are not cautious and 

caring have never met us. Next slide. 

 The things that matter to us; we want opportunities for our children, we want to be able to 

take advantage of capital. We need profitability and stability. Looking at feed costs, this year the 

corn raised my expenses 70%. The influence on ethanol on food versus feed stocks versus fuel is 

an issue that I think everybody needs to address. Conservation practices, environmental 

enhancements, animal care, all of these are things that worry us and that we need to address in 

the future. Next, please. 

 These are things that the Center for Daily Excellence are going to help us do. As you 

heard, we were established in 2004 to make dairy farming more profitable. And that does not 

mean just the farms. We want the processors, the retailers, the whole chain, the infrastructure, the 

guys that come to my farm, to be more profitable. And we do that by working together and 

creating partnerships. Next. 

 These are numerous programs that we do. We have programs for producers. Next. 

 Here we have a Dairy PROS education program. Then we have mastering the dairy 

business. People can call in from home and learn from experts. Managing risk is a big thing, and 

we need to continue to work on those types of programs. And again, we have the profitability 

from helping farmers. 

 Here you can see, you will hear from Walt later. "The industry is ever and quickly 

changing, and we need a hub like the center to help producers…change." Next. 

 "The Dairy Profit Team Program got all of us on the same page. We thought we were 

doing okay on management, but the team and consultants gave us ideas on how to do it better." 



 This is one of our profit teams. Another service that we provide for farmers, and the 

Gable family from down in Chester County. "Our neighbors are very much interested in keeping 

farms…" Ultimately what we are saying is there is tremendous opportunity for the dairy industry 

here. We have the cows, we have the people, we have the dedicated work staff, we just need 

some help with some of the issues out there, and we are more than willing to work with all of 

you because they need us. And as it says there, Let us keep dairy growing, the world is counting 

on us. 

 Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you both very much. We have a couple of minutes 

available for questions and I would remind the members of the Committee that your questions 

should be aimed at eliciting education, not to be pursuing a cause. 

 Representative Brooks. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

 I want to thank both of you for being here, John, I want to thank you, you have been up to 

the 17th District numerous times and I appreciate your time and your efforts. It is a labor of love 

for you, and I understand that. 

 Can you quickly walk us through how you help a small dairy farm that perhaps is 

struggling? Just quickly walk us through your process or what is available. 

 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FREY: Two things come to mind. Number one, if that dairy 

farm calls us and says, we need help, we are going to do a little bit of investigating and 

questioning, and then we are going to tell that family that where we would begin would be to 

assemble professional trusted resources around that team. We do not employ those resources at 

the Center, we coordinate them. So we will pick up the phone, we will find a facilitator to lead 



that process and then we will work at family to get other people around the table to help that 

family start thinking a little bit more strategically about a: where they are, and b: where they 

want to end up being and how they are going to get there. 

 The second thing is we provide a lot of educational resources at the Center and we are 

just working very hard to get dairy producers to take advantage of those. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: Thank you very much. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Representative Lawrence. 

 REPRESENTATIVE LAWRENCE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

 Lolly, I appreciate your very insightful presentation. You had spoken briefly with regard 

to financing and the availability of capital. I was wondering if you could speak a little bit more to 

that, particularly the envelopment of farm credit or do you work with farm credit? Who do you 

work with and what are some of the challenges you are facing in that area? 

 PRESIDENT LESHER: We do not work with farm credit. We work with commercial 

lending. We are fortunate in the fact that my husband and I have been at this for over 20-some 

years. We do have, for us, credit is not much of an issue, but I do have neighbors that have been 

turned down for banking because we lost a lot of equity in 2009 and 2010 when mill price was 

down 70% and feed prices were going up. The availability of capital is really a problem for some 

producers in certain areas. 

 REPRESENTATIVE LAWRENCE: Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you, and thank you again. This is the beginning of our 

journey to a full education and you have gotten us off to a great start. Thank you. 

 PRESIDENT LESHER: Thank you so much. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Our next panelist is Paul Hoge, who is a program specialist with 



Pennsylvania's Department of Agriculture in the Milk Sanitation Division. 

 Thank you for being with us today, Mr. Hoge. And you have about 10 minutes. 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: Good morning Chairman Maher, Chairman Petrarca, and 

distinguished members of the House Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee. It is my pleasure 

to speak with you this morning regarding PDAs role in helping to assure that milk, which is 

Pennsylvania's official State beverage, is produced and processed according to the highest 

standards of safety, sanitation, and quality. 

 Now, the great majority of Pennsylvania's 7500 dairy farms market their milk as Grade 

"A" milk for pasteurization. Grade "A" certification is required for fluid milk products as well as 

dairy products such as yogurt, sour cream, and non-fat dry milk that are marketed across State 

lines, to the military, or to interstate carriers. These Grade "A" farms are regulated under the 

Grade "A" Pasteurized Milk Ordinance, which I have right here, which is a set of regulations 

dating back to the 1930s and the formation of the National Conference on Interstate Milk 

Shipments. It is the most recent edition, the 2009 edition of this ordinance that we are working to 

adopt as Pennsylvania's updated Milk Sanitation Regulation, Chapter 59a. 

 Our dairy producers market their milk for pasteurization to one of either 16 dairy 

cooperatives or possibly directly to one of over 40 independent dairy processors that market milk 

and milk products within the Commonwealth. The Department issues permits to these marketing 

organizations for a group of dairy farms that are inspected as a group and referred to as Bulk tank 

Unit. So that Bulk Tank Unit is a group of farms regulated by the Department under one permit. 

The Dairy Marketing Service Cooperative, for example, maintains 29 separate bulk tank unit 

permits for the approximately 2000 Pennsylvania dairy farms that market their milk as members 

of their cooperative. 



 In regard to the regulations that apply to dairy farms marketing Grade "A" milk, the 

Pasteurized Milk Ordinance, or PMO, includes standards for milk for pasteurization that requires 

samples of each producer's milk to be collected at the time of pick-up and then tested four times 

in every 6-months in an officially certified laboratory. A group of 1700 licensed and certified 

weighers and samplers who travel around with bulk tank trucks and collect the milk are certified 

in order to collect these samples and as I said, samples are tested in a certified lab. 

 These tests include the Standard Plate Count for total bacterial count, the Somatic Cell 

Count, and the presence of drug residues, the test for presence of residues.  

 These tests determine, from testing, a total bacteria count, a level of leukocyte or white 

blood cell count in the milk, and again, that presence of antibiotic residues. Producer compliance 

with each test roughly correlates with their proper attention to cleaning of equipment, cleaning 

and sanitizing equipment, their mastitis control procedures, their milk refrigeration performance, 

and the proper administration of antibiotics that are as necessary required for safe, high quality 

products. 

 Many milk markets employ an additional test known as the PI test, or Preliminary 

Incubation test, because it gives an earlier, advanced notice of high bacteria that what does 

sometimes the standard plate count. However, that is not an official test. 

 I would like to add at this juncture that the majority of the Cooperatives and independent 

milk handlers in the State encourage producers to market milk that far exceeds these regulatory 

standards. Milk processors understand that once the milk leaves the farm, the quality of it cannot 

be improved in their processing plants. They, as a result, will voluntarily pay incentives and 

premium quality bonuses for milk of better quality. Because, again, it gives better shelf life, a 

better cheese yield, and just a better quality product. So a dairy producer with an average size 



herd that earned $0.20/cwt quality premium may easily earn an extra $5,000 in annual income by 

making milk quality a priority. Land O'Lakes last year paid out a half-a-million dollars in quality 

premiums just in Pennsylvania alone. 

 In addition to the monthly laboratory testing that I have discussed, the Department 

licenses and certifies approximately 140 farm inspectors, dairy farm inspectors, who complete 

required inspections of our dairy farms at a minimum frequency of once each six months. Our 

certified industry inspectors work with producers in meeting the dairy farm sanitation 

requirements, including cleaning and sanitizing of equipment, potability of water supplies, 

construction of the equipment, milk protection on the farm, and general cleanliness of the 

environment as well as farm drug storage and labeling requirements. Considering the size of our 

dairy farming industry and relatively small number of State milk sanitarians, the certified 

inspectors are very important in helping us meet our dairy farm inspection requirements. Their 

work is assessed each six months by the Department's milk sanitarians during records reviews 

and joint inspections, and then, every two years the supply as a whole is graded by milk 

sanitation rating officers certified by the Food and Drug Administration. Producers tend to call 

this their "federal inspection" and again, it is required each two years for the dairy farm supply to 

be certified as grade "A" and move freely as a grade "A" supplier in the market place. 

 Now, the process of assuring a safe milk supply continues after milk is collected from the 

farms and prior to unloading at the receiving destination. Current provisions for all versions of 

milk, actually, grade "A" and non-grade "A" require that each load must be tested for beta-lactam 

residues at the receiving destination and prior to receiving the milk. Currently our Department's 

labs certifies the testing in 58 receiving locations throughout the Commonwealth, and again, 

when as a tanker as a whole tests positive that entire load is disposed of and the producer that 



was found to have caused that violation of the load is responsible financially for payment for the 

load.  

 In Pennsylvania, our dairy producers supply milk to more than 40 grade "A" fluid milk 

processors and 8 manufactured dairy product plants. Additionally, the Department permits 

approximately 40 producer/processors, or juggers, you heard Mrs. Lesher talk before me and that 

would be qualified as producer/processor, and approximately 73 smaller sized cheese operations. 

These plants and the milk that they process give Pennsylvania a leading role in dairy product 

production, enabling us to rank fourth in overall production of frozen desserts, fourth in Italian 

cheeses, second in butter, and first in the production of confectionary products. Last year, in fact, 

Pennsylvania dairy producers supplied one-half billion pounds of milk to the West Hershey 

Foods plant, or about 1.4 million pounds per day to meet the firm's milk chocolate production 

requirements. 

 Now, regardless of the products being produced, the plant's pasteurization systems are 

considered critical control points in any dairy plant's hazard analysis and critical control points 

food safety program. The PMO defines pasteurization as the only practical, commercial measure 

which if properly applied to all milk will destroy all milk borne disease organisms. The design 

and fail-safe operation of these pasteurizing systems is one of the key areas that our Departments 

sanitarians focus upon during their dairy plant inspections. The PMO, in fact, specifies 25 

separate tests that are to be completed on a pasteurization system on a quarterly basis. In addition 

to these pasteurization system requirements, our quarterly regulatory plant inspections focus 

upon issues like equipment cleaning and sanitizing, construction of that equipment, cooling 

requirements within the plant, protection of milk in the plant from post pasteurization 

contamination. Additionally, our milk sanitarians collect samples of most dairy products on a 



monthly basis so that the products can also be examined in a certified lab for again, some of 

those same counts or tests that were examining the milk for pasteurization prior to processing. 

The only difference is we include a test for proper pasteurization called the phosphates test, 

which again detects inadequate pasteurization. 

 Our Department laboratory division oversees the accuracy of 13 commercial laboratories 

that complete this testing through their on-site evaluations each 2-years of these laboratory 

facilities and an annual split sampling program. 

 Finally, with respect to grade "A" plants, each must also be recertified under the 

Interstate Milk Shippers Program every 2-years in order to, again, retain that grade "A" dairy 

certification. 

 I hope that these quick comments have given you a little idea of what we are doing in 

terms of regulating the dairy industry and I welcome any questions you might have during my 

remaining time. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much, Mr. Hoge. 

 Representative Boback. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BOBACK: Good morning, Mr. Hoge. Thank you for being with us. 

 You touched upon antibiotics in the milk product. Can you explain how antibiotics and 

hormones have affect on the products that we drink and we eat? Because that is usually a 

controversial question that I receive. 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: Well, the main concern that FDA has with antibiotics, and I think 

it is the overwhelming concern, is that there are certain people, a small segment of the 

population, that have a hyper-sensitivity to antibiotics. You could be allergic to Penicillin, for 

example. So if they encounter Penicillin in their milk supply it is not going to go well with them. 



 A second fundamental reason to avoid residues in milk is that as a person that has been 

exposed to antibiotics, the bacterial flora in their system tends to become adjusted, or 

accustomed to them to the extent they are not as effective. So the goal of avoiding of antibiotics 

in a food supply is to avoid antibiotic resistance developing in a normal bacteria of the people, so 

that in fact when they do become ill or affected by a pathogenic organism an antibiotic will take 

care of it. We do not want to become immune to the antibiotics through over usage. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BOBACK: Then you take that into account when you monitor how 

much is going into the milk and cheese supply? 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: Absolutely. The actual testing that I spoke about involves a series 

of certified and approved tests that are sensitive to the parts per billion level for the antibiotics. 

That is the beta lactam antibiotics. That is a penicillin like class of antibiotics and again, we are 

testing down to the parts per billion level. Quite sensitive testing. 

 RESPRESENTATIVE BOBACK: Thank you, Mr. Chair. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you. 

 REPRESENTATIVE KORTZ: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Hoge, for 

your testimony.  

 I am newer to the Committee so pardon me if this sounds like an elementary question, but 

is there a class "B" of milk? And if so, what is the distinguishing factor that grades it as a class 

"B"? 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: Thank you for that good question. 

 Actually, there is a class "B" milk. Actually I was corrected earlier in my career, there is 

really no technical class "B" it is truly a manufacturing grade. In other words, grade "A" has the 

PMO but the USDA refers to the manufacturing grade milk and our new regulation as of Chapter 



59a as proposed also updates the Department's regulations for manufacturing grade milk. Those 

were first adopted by the Department in 1985 and this is an update to that section as well. To 

clarify, the manufacturing grade milk is a relatively small segment of our milk supply in 

Pennsylvania. The majority of farms find it more profitable, actually, to market milk as grade 

"A" but for those that choose not to, have not stepped up to that highest level of certification, 

their farms could be marketing milk to manufacturing. Again, the difference there is that the milk 

cannot go into a grade "A" processing plant, go interstate shipment, it must go to a cheese 

facility or a manufactured dairy products facility that can receive it.  

 I would estimate somewhere in the neighborhood of 400 producers, maybe, in 

Pennsylvania still sell manufactured grade milk. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Representative Tobash. 

 REPRESENTATIVE TOBASH: Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and Mr. Hoge.  

 You mentioned earlier that there are premiums paid for higher quality milk. Are those 

premiums paid both by the co-ops and by the independent dairies? 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: They are. Every cooperative has their own premium payment 

system, quality program that they refer to it, and many of the independents do as well. 

 REPRESENTATIVE TOBASH: And are there large disparities in the markets? In the 

price for those markets? 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: I think that, I do not think there is that much disparity. I would say 

that most of the cooperatives are offering somewhere in the neighborhood of $0.10 on the low 

side and up to maybe $0.30 on the high side for the various quality grades that they get. In other 

words, it is all based upon tiered-levels. If your somatic cell performance is at the lowest possible 

level and you are down in say the 100,000 range for somatic cell count, that might correlate to a 



$0.30 premium all other factors being the same. 

 REPRESENTATIVE TOBASH: And that would be relatively similar between co-ops 

and the independent dairies? 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: Relatively the same. I will say that I know of one independent 

dairy that offers no quality premium. They are known for a very robust pay price in the price, but 

they do not offer a quality bonus. They expect of milk and that is just their standard. So they pay 

well, but they do not do a premium. 

 REPRESENTATIVE TOBASH: thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Representative Keller. 

 REPRESENTATIVE KELLER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

 Very quickly, you talk about your labs. The last 8-years the Department of Agriculture 

has had cuts in the budget. Are your labs able to keep up with the technology of today to be able 

to do the testing correctly and continue to do that correctly and efficiently? 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: I believe that the labs are. I believe, in fact, that the laboratory has 

been able to achieve some new equipment, I heard about it, I do not get too involved in that area, 

but I do hear that they get some new equipment from time to time and deal very much so, they 

are in command of the tests that they are required to do. 

 Keep in mind we do not, at the State lab, we do not do the overall producer testing as is 

done in some States or the finished product testing. What we are doing in our labs is monitoring 

of the commercial labs. Our sanitarians will pick-up on a periodic basis samples from the plants, 

go to Harrisburg with those samples, and the laboratory in Harrisburg will validate the work of 

the commercial labs by doing their own tests. I believe they are pretty-well current. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you, Mr. Hoge. I appreciate very much your testimony 



today and the good work you do for the Department of Agriculture. 

 SPECIALIST HOGE: I just want to add, too, that we have attached to your handouts an 

actual copy of the Interstate Milk Shipper's listing. Once certified as Grade "A" your name is a 

bulk tank unit or a plant is listed in that Interstate Milk Shipper's listing that is found on the 

internet, and that is how the other plants know that the supply is grade "A." 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much. 

 Our next panel is going to be a panel focusing on dairy production, and most of those 

who will be testifying are in fact dairy producers.  

 Mike Evanish is a manger of the Pennsylvania Farm Bureau Business Services, who is 

going to be talking a bit about financial aspects of the dairy world. He will be joined by David 

Graybill, from Red Sunset Farm in Mifflintown, Juniata County; Duane Hertzler from Moo Echo 

Farms, Inc. in Loysville, Perry County; and Walt Moore from Walmoore Holsteins, Inc. in West 

Grove, Chester County. 

 You will each have 8 minutes to educate us thoroughly. 

 Mike, will you please lead off. 

 MR. EVANISH: Good morning. My name is Mike Evanish, I am the manager of 

Business Services at Pennsylvania Farm Bureau and I would really like to thank the whole 

Committee for taking the time to hear about the concerns out of the country and letting me share 

with you the data that I have from about 800 dairy farms, dairy farm families that we do work 

for. 

 I did supply the Committee with the last of the publication that we do every year, the 

purpose of this publication is to summarize the data and to supply dairy producers with articles 

that would help them manage their farm. It is kind of hot issues that are on the farm right now. 



Because the data that is used from this comes from financial statements, compilation reports that 

we put together for the businesses, we feel like it about as good of data as you are ever going to 

find anywhere because the producer gives us the data so that we can supply it to the bank. They 

use the data to improve management skills on their farm and why would you lie or say anything 

that is not true? So we feel like it is a really good base of data, but I want the Committee to 

understand that I am making no statement that this is a scientific sample. These are our clients. 

So take a scientific sample out of the mix. 

 These are averages of the most common method of dairy farming in the State of 

Pennsylvania. On these farms, the farms raise most of their own feed. They raise most, if not all 

of their replacement animals, and of course they produce milk. I just wanted to make sure that 

the Committee understands that there are other management models available. There are farms in 

Pennsylvania that, for instance, operate under the organic farming model. We are going to hear 

in a few minutes from a grazing operation, which is a little bit different than what I am 

describing. We also have farms in the State that buy all of their feed. They literally could be on 

10-acres and do nothing but milk cows and buy everything. Those are other models. The 

problem I have is that I have so few clients in those models that the averages really are not 

viable. They cannot mix with having 800 farms where no one farm could possibly skew the data. 

 The last thing about the publication is that I have a cooperative agreement with Farm 

Credit East that does accounting work and lending in the northeast United States, and the idea is 

for our Pennsylvania producers to be able to compare and contrast how they are doing, their 

financial viability against their number one competitor, in my opinion, which is the rest of the 

dairy farms in the northeast. I feel like Pennsylvania and the rest of the northeast have over 100 

million people within an 8-hours drive of their farm. I will have to talk about that when I am out 



talking to young people. It seems like you ought to be able to get a buck out of those families, 

you ought to be able to sell your product.  

 We have already heard about some of the difficulties, and in my report I outlined, and I 

rounded the numbers off to the nearest $0.50 just so I did not get bogged down in a whole bunch 

of boring numbers, but if you look at the last 3-years where I have good data, you will see where 

even although the price of milk was excellent, the expenses were very high. Making it that they 

were not even able to be profitable when the average milk was $21.00 per cwt. They still lost 

$1.00 per cwt on average. Then you take and have a price collapse, where the price averages 

around $14.00, but expenses do not go away. You have the devastation that is still being felt in 

the dairy business today. My very, very preliminary data, I only have about 50 dairy farms 

finished so far, so very preliminary, it does look like there is a nice recovery in the price of milk 

of average last year, that pricing seems to show that that is going to continue which is very good, 

but you have already heard, the price of corn, the price of soybeans, are at devastating levels 

which is really not a very good thing.  

 You might ask yourself, well, Mike, look at these numbers. These farms lost $7.50 per 

cwt in the last 3-years. How can you sustain that? First, it is pretty difficult, but they do have 

other sources of revenue, and I am talking here about they cull some of their animals, their bull 

calves are born and they can sell those, there are some government payment money that does 

come in, and from time to time they do have extra crops and that makes for a nice little bonus. 

 In addition to that, you have to understand that my numbers are approved from an 

accountant, and that means they did not necessarily pay all of these bills. We are taking the bills 

that they incurred but we are not necessarily saying that they paid them all. So there are vendors 

out in the country which I am going to speak to just for a second, but there are vendors in the 



country that are suffering because of the high accounts receivable that they have from their diary 

clients. Feed bills, for instance. That is a second reason how they can sustain these losses. 

 There is a good bit of equity on a lot of the farms, especially if you are in the right place 

and you own a lot of land. Lenders are willing to lend you money to quote "get through the bad 

times." Any of you that are in business know, how many times can you go to the well before the 

well goes dry? It creates another problem. And the exodus of spouses to off/on jobs, it is very 

great. Many times the spouse will take a job that does not necessarily pay that well, but it will 

pay the health insurance. And that is a big expense if you take that pressure off of the dairy it 

really helps. 

 What are my staff? I have a staff of 50. What are they hearing from the clients? I polled 

them whenever I found out I was going to be here. Obviously, number one is feed costs. If they 

need to buy corn or they need to buy protein to feed their animals, the cost of that is devastating. 

 The second concern is oil prices. $100 barrel of oil creates not only $4.00 and $5.00 

gasoline prices potentially, but I was a seminar this fall and the economist from USDA talked 

about how 80% of the expenses on a farm are affected by the price of oil. Going all the way from 

the diesel fuel that they burn and the dryer gas that they burn to dry their crops, clear down to 

fertilizer costs and chemical costs. So it is a lot of impact there. 

 That of course brings us to fertilizer costs. We import it all. There is a policy in 

Washington to have a cheap dollar. If you import something, the price goes up because of the 

cheap dollar. Monetary policies have their way of finding their way right down to that farm that 

is here in Dauphin County.  

 From my perspective, looking at things from 100,000 feet and the problems that I have 

seen, being involved with Farm Bureau and working with dairy farmers for 35-years, and I could 



not pass up talking about the price and cost of volatility. I just have to talk about that again. 

When you have costs rising out of control and a market price for your product that can vary by 

50%, that is pretty devastating. That volatility, there has to be a solution for that. 

 Infrastructure on and off the farm is another major concern. John Frey put an excellent 

picture up there of what he called the 1950 dairy barn, dairy facility. Quite frankly, we have a lot 

of clients still using those facilities. They do not have a future, and his comment was right on 

when he said that does not excite the younger generation to go out on that farm, where airflow is 

just not there. And then of course we have the off farm. Infrastructure to help a dairy farm to be 

profitable can only stay in place when there is enough dairy. So you have to have the dairy.  

 Environmental issues, retirement, trying to get the young people back into the business, 

and finally the consumer being willing to accept all size dairy farms. There seems to be some 

pushback that you can be too big as a dairy producer. That may or may not be true, all sizes help. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much, Mr. Evanish.  

 Next will be David Graybill. 

 MR. GRAYBILL: Good morning. This testimony is offered on behalf of the 

Pennsylvania Farm Bureau, an organization representing more than 50,000 farm and rural family 

members in 63 counties. 

 My name is David Graybill. I, along with my wife Marie, operate Red Sunset Farms in 

Juniata County. I graduated with a BS in Ag Ed from Penn State, and after graduation I worked 

for Pennfield Feeds for seven-and-a-half years, and as an ag teacher and Young Farmer advisor 

for 4-years. 

 Fulfilling a life-long dream, I began my farming ten-and-a-half years ago, buying cows 

and equipment and renting the farm buildings and land. Today, we milk approximately 60 



registered Holsteins and raise the same number of replacement heifers, as well as farm 100 acres 

of corn, 100 acres of hay, 70 acres of beans, and 60 acres of small grains. Ninety percent of my 

farm income comes from the dairy cattle. 

 I am the President of Juniata County Farm Bureau, and currently serve on the 

Pennsylvania Farm Bureau's State Dairy Committee. Farm Bureau would like to thank Chairman 

Maher and the members of the House Ag and Rural Affairs Committee for the opportunity to 

testify today. 

 As a relatively new dairy farmer, ten-and-a-half years, that is new, I have faced and 

continue to face challenges that are unique when compared to many other farmers. In 2000 I 

received a Farm Service Agency load to help purchase my cows and equipment. Shortly 

thereafter, in the wake of 9/11, the industry faced a significant drop in milk prices. During those 

18 months, my farm, like others in the industry, faced very tight margins. I quickly learned the 

importance of making touch business decisions to deal with those difficult economic times. 

 Out of that first crisis, we learned a lot. We decided not to make additional capital 

investments in our operation unless there was a good chance that it would result in additional 

income for our farm. Thanks to these sound business decisions, my farm has been profitable 

every year since then in 2003. 

 On another note, my numbers are in the numbers that Mike Evanish was giving you. 

 Now, that is not to say that we have not faced our share of challenges. As you may know, 

farm expenses and milk payments tend to be volatile. Consider, for example, the dairy climate of 

the last several years. In 2006, milk prices were extremely low, straining dairy farmers' budgets 

to the limit and forcing many farmers into serious changes in their operations. As milk prices 

climbed in 2007 and much of 2008, farmers tried to get caught up on bills, and where possible, 



make improvements around the farm. However, higher input costs quickly can eliminate much of 

the gains from those strong milk prices. 

 In 2009, producers' milk prices hit those historic lows. For more than a year, many 

farmers suffered substantial financial losses from milk production. Faced with negative margins, 

farmers had to make difficult business decisions: cull cows, change feed rations, and even sell-

off assets. 

 While prices have been higher in 2010 and look good in 2011, we are still not out of the 

woods. Since prices were so severely depressed, it will take a long time for dairy farmers to 

recover. Dairy farmers across Pennsylvania are still worried about holding onto their farms and 

retaining their dairy operations for future generations. Many farmers are just one low price cycle 

away from exiting the dairy business – something that has far reaching consequences not only 

for the farmer and his family, but on the local economy and the larger ag infrastructure. 

 As I mentioned earlier, my wife and I have been fortunate enough to keep our farm 

profitable by making tough management decisions that are needed to maintain our margins. 

Since we grow more crops than my cows can consume, we have been able to sell excess crops 

and thanks to favorable commodity prices, that has been a strong revenue generator. 

 We have also been able to take several steps to increase production through better cow 

comfort. By installing mattresses where the cows lay and building a new ventilation system, we 

have been able to raise our production and our milk revenue through increasing milk production 

– because of that cow comfort – and higher quality premiums. Government assistance, like the 

federal Milk Income Loss Contract payments, also helped many farmers in times of high feed 

and low milk prices. Our farm received more than $16,000 in additional income from MILC in 

2009, a huge help to cover the costs. 



 Now that I have discussed the situation on my farm and the general environment for the 

dairy farmers in Pennsylvania, I would like to summarize what Farm Bureau would recommend 

the Commonwealth should do in response to today's challenges in dairy pricing. While I will not 

discuss every recommendation that Farm Bureau would offer on dairy matters, I believe the 

recommendations I will discuss are most relevant to the issues being covered at today's hearing. 

 Farm Bureau supports the continuation of the Milk Marketing Law as a means of orderly 

marketing of the States dairy products, and the role of the Pennsylvania Milk Marketing Board in 

mandating over-order premiums on Class I milk. But, we recommend a significant change be 

made to the scope of the milk pricing regulation. Specifically, our members support abolishing 

the State minimum retail price – which would permit retailers to use milk as a loss leader – while 

maintaining the Board's responsibility to regulate minimum wholesale price and producer prices, 

enabling the continuation of the payment of the over order premiums to producers.  

 Our members are also concerned about a widened spread between minimum producer 

and retail prices on milk sold in Pennsylvania, and believe the Commonwealth should investigate 

and report the causes of this widening gap and offer recommendations to narrow the spread to 

better ensure financial stability for Pennsylvania's dairy farmers. 

 Along these lines, we support a more equitable distribution of the over order premiums 

for all milk produced in Pennsylvania, such as through market-wide pooling. We also support 

efforts by the Commonwealth and neighboring States to identify and pursue measures that will 

provide regional price and income benefits to the producers. We also believe the current pricing 

system should be changed to capture and return to producers the premium dollars that consumers 

are paying in their milk purchases and expect that to be paid back to dairy farmers. Our members 

also believe milk processors should be responsible for the costs of hauling milk between farms 



and processing plants. 

 Farm Bureau recognizes that the most effective solutions to today's price and cost 

challenges for dairy farmers will need to largely occur at the national level, and that 

Pennsylvania's role in resolving these challenges is limited. It is important that Pennsylvania not 

pass laws and regulations that would interfere with the marketability of Pennsylvania milk, and 

that would ultimately impact the dairy farmers' pockets. Whether pricing and other changes 

occur at the national level or at the State level, future dairy policy should not ignore the 

economic forces at work in regional, national, and international markets. And future changes in 

price regulation and dairy programs should not result in producer prices that prevent the 

marketability of Pennsylvania produced milk in these markets. 

 What is clear is that we need viable and lasting change within the dairy industry. While 

dairy pricing is largely a national issue, Farm Bureau believes that Pennsylvania can do several 

things that can be helpful to the Pennsylvania dairy farmer. Ensuring that all Pennsylvania dairy 

producers receive their fair share of the premium is a good place to start. 

 Again, thank you for the opportunity to testify today. We are committed to helping the 

dairy industry thrive long into the future. Farm Bureau looks forward to working with you on 

this issue. 

 Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you, Mr. Graybill. 

 Next is Mr. Duane Hertzler, from Moo-Echo Farms, Inc – I love the name – in Loysville, 

Perry County. 

 I should also note that we have been joined, since the beginning of the hearing, by 

Representative Tina Pickett, Representative Gordon Denlinger, and Representative Rob 



Kauffman. 

 Mr. Hertzler. 

 MR. HERTZLER: Thank you Chairman Maher, Chairman Petrarca, and members of the 

House Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee. 

 My name is Duane Hertzler, and I am a dairy farmer from Perry County. My wife June 

and I are part of Moo-Echo Farm, LLC, with our son Neil and his wife Kilah. Neil and Kilah 

have four young sons who also help on our dairy. Our family consists of 400 acres owned, 300 

acres rented, 300 milk cows, and 300 heifers. We sell our milk to Mt. Joy Co-op, a supply co-op 

for Dairylea. We specialize in a farming practice called managed intensive seasonal grazing that 

helps keep our feed costs low because we allow our cows to harvest the grass. 

 I serve on several agriculture boards, including The Animal Health Commission, chairing 

the Dairy Committee. I also serve on the Dairy Policy Action Coalition, better known as DPAC, 

which is a coalition of grassroots dairy producers actively participating, with a unified voice, on 

policies and issues affecting milk pricing. 

 During the past two years, as has been said before, we have experienced the same 

financial stress that all dairy farmers have. Fortunately, because of our 40-years in the business 

and the depth of assets from that time, we were able to survive this economic downturn. 

 Many farms were not as lucky and will be working up to 5-years or more to recover from 

the money borrowed to stay in business. Our farm looks like in 3 or more years it will recover. 

For 2011, the milk prices look more promising. 

 But as you all know, rising corn and soybean prices are keeping the margins tight. In 

some ways, the global demand for grain is a factor, but also 38-40%, this is important, 38-40% 

of U.S. corn stocks are being used for ethanol, which is subsidized. A rule of thumb breakeven 



milk price used to be $15 to $17 per hundredweight. That number today is approximately $3 

higher from 2-years ago or so. So, we still have varying degrees of economic and emotional 

stress on Pennsylvania dairy farms, and we have a pricing system that fails both producers and 

consumers. 

 At a joint workshop with USDA and Department of Justice in Wisconsin last June, 

experts said more value is staying in the middle of the consolidated food chain. The dairy 

farmer's share of the consumer's dollar was 42% as of 2002. Now it is down to 27% this past 

year.  

 I believe it is a privilege, not a right, to be a dairy farmer in Pennsylvania. But the State 

and national policies work against us as dairy farmers. I believe government basically has two 

roles. First, to protect its citizens, and second, to provide its citizens with opportunities. This is 

where the right policy needs to be in place to provide a reasonably priced and safe food supply. 

This includes having policies that give farmers the opportunities they need to provide it. 

 The rural infrastructure for agriculture relies on a strong dairy production sector. In 

Pennsylvania, agriculture is our number one industry with dairy being the largest segment, 

contributing 40% of ag receipts and providing countless jobs on the agriculture side, supplying 

the farms, and on the food processing side. 

 Pennsylvania has experienced a significant decrease in the number of farms, as was stated 

before here today, over the past 30-years, going from 19,000 farms in '78 to 7400 farms in 2009. 

We are fortunate at our farm to have our son involved because often the next generation chooses 

other professions because of the long hours and low profit margins. Many of the remaining farms 

in Pennsylvania today are structured like ours operating as partnerships or LLC's owned by 

family members. 



 The dairy industry has many layers of complex government policies to regulate and set 

prices for dairy products. At the State level, the Pennsylvania Milk Market Board sets a 

minimum price that includes a premium for fluid milk at the wholesale and retail levels intended 

to help dairy farmers offset their productions costs. Unfortunately, a significant portion of these 

premium dollars are lost or stranded and never returned to the farmers' milk checks. 

 This is important: It is puzzling that the mailbox price for neighboring Ohio – where 

there is no State mandated premium from consumers – began to surpass Pennsylvania's mailbox 

price in 2008 at a time when the premiums in Pennsylvania were raised to above $2. I have an 

attached graph and you will see how that is. 

 I hope this Committee will review the Milk Marketing Act and consider changes to 

ensure the transfer of the consumer premium dollars to the dairy farm families. 

 At the federal level, outdated and overly complex dairy policies also need to be reformed. 

This year I traveled to Madison, Wisconsin and to Chicago to study some of the proposals that 

hopefully will fix our broken pricing system with better policy. DPAC, which I am part of, is 

working with Congress for changes to improve transparency, price discovery, and encourage 

new product innovation. 

 Again, thank you for this hearing and allowing me to tell you about our dairy farm and 

the dairy industry in Pennsylvania. Agriculture is an important part of our State's economy and 

culture. I hope my testimony will be useful to this Committee as you develop a comprehensive 

understanding of the dairy industry in Pennsylvania. 

 Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much, Mr. Hertzler. 

 Next is Mr. Walt Moore, from Walmoore Holsteins, Inc. in West Grove. 



 MR. MOORE: Good morning. 

 Good morning Chairman Maher and the rest of the Committee. 

 Again, my name is Walt Moore. I am from Chester County. I am a fourth-generation 

dairy farmer. Our farm has been in our family for 101 years, it will be 102 this year. We would 

like to keep it, we are growing and educating the fifth-generation and hoping we can keep it into 

the family some more. 

 I heard a lot of great testimony this morning, I would like to echo a lot of things that were 

said. My plan coming in here was to give you all a little bit of a virtual tour of our farm, and I 

will do that going through on the slides here and just hit a few key points as we go. 

 Our farms name is Walmoore Holsteins, Incorporated. You can go onto the next slide. 

 As I said, we started here in 1909. Currently we milk 800 cows, raise 620 plus heifers, 

and farm about 1250 acres. One point I would like to make is once a dairy farm reaches about 

700 cows in scope we become what is called a CAFO, Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation 

and we are regulated by the federal government and must have a permit to be able to discharge 

our manure. We have to go through much higher regulations and paperwork, and a lot of extra 

reporting and things like that just to operate on an annual basis. We have to update our nutrient 

management plan every 3-years, completely rewrite it, and it is evaluated every year. I will not 

get into more details, but it is something that as farms raise in size that they are challenged with. 

 As all of these other producers, we employ 11 full-time people and many part-time and 

seasonal help, we have as many as 20 on the payroll at one time. Lolly was talking about, and 

some of the others, John, about the economic impact. Our farm does close to $4 million in gross 

sales a year, so we have a huge economic impact, and I think they said nine cows employs one 

person, so we have about 170 people here just from our farm. Next slide, please. 



 This is a picture of one of our barns. This is a more modern style barn. It is very open, it 

allows the cows to have natural ventilation and it is called a freestall barn, where the cows can 

move in and out and get their feed and water as they choose. Next slide, please. 

 This is a barn, another one similar, this is also where our cows calve and it is a barn 

specifically designed and built for the cows to be in the maternity stage of their lactation. Farms, 

if given the opportunity, we talked about and I hear these other gentlemen talk about viability, as 

we can keep farms viable there is a lot of economic impact. If we can promote them. This barn, 

literally, we put the cows in yesterday and we continue to build despite the downturn in 2009. As 

we move forward here I will show you pictures of our milking center. Go ahead, next slide. 

 This is another style of barn that we have. These are heifers at another farm. We actually 

have animals at three locations within about a 3-mile radius and this is another farm. Next slide. 

 I was talking about freestalls. This is an example of a freestall. They are free to get up 

and down. That is sand that they are laying on. We recycle the sand and we bed it with them and 

we bed-up twice a week and we build a system to recycle the sand and after about 30-days that 

sand is brought back into the barn and we just continuously use it. Next slide, please. 

 These are what we call flush tanks. Another recycling process. We actually use, after the 

manure is taken from the barns and the sand with it, the sand is pulled out, the solids are pulled 

out, and the manure is basically watered down and then pumped back to these tanks and we use 

it to flush the sand and manure out. So it is a big recycling process. And then we also use that 

manure as our own fertilizer to fertilize our crops on the farm. Next slide, please. 

 This is a picture of the sand, as I was talking about. This is what we call a sand stacking 

pad. This is part of the process, and it is very simple. Everything is done basically by gravity and 

nature. Once a day we get in there with a payloader and move the piles around and it allows that 



sand to just go through a composting process, and then after about a month it comes out of the 

barn it goes back up and rebeds the cows. 

 Just another shot, the white building structure there is where our manure, I talked about 

manure solids as extracted, that is a machine that does that. 

 This is where the manure goes to. It is a lined lagoon, very similar to what they would 

line a landfill with, a plastic, and that is where they are pumping out the manure onto the tankers 

that we haul to the fields to spread and fertilize our crops. Next slide, please. 

 This is our milking center that we finished in July of '09. This is just a picture of it under 

construction. Next slide. 

 Just another shot of the same facility. Next slide, please. 

 This is an inside shot of the milking center. This milking parlor, as we call it, milks 24 

cows at a time, 12 on each side. The cows are entering, we are looking at the front of it, so they 

are behind us, they come in on their own and line up 12 at a time. We shut the gate and they are 

milked by a person. Then they are released and are able to return back to their barn. Our cows 

are all milked three times a day, which means they are basically on an 8-hour shift when they 

come into the milking center. However, because of the size of our operation we run around the 

clock. We are literally milking cows 22-hours a day. 

 These are the girls, as we call them, being milked. They are very curious. They love to 

look around and do their thing. They are very comfortable there and they want to be milked.  

 This is a rear-view. Udders and you can see some of the electronics. I should have 

pointed out earlier, ours cows have collars on them which have a computer chip. When they 

enter the milking parlor, they are actually identified. They each have their own individual 

number and we record every milk, the amount of milk each cow gives at each milking. That 



helps us manage them and can tell how well they are producing, we can also tell if they would be 

getting sick because their production will go down, things like that. 

 This is an area that when my wife and I decided to build this milking center, we wanted 

to have an observation area. Those windows to the left actually oversee the milking parlor that 

we just showed pictures of. This is an area where we wanted to be able to bring in the public, 

whether it be elementary school children or other folks, but last April we actually housed a 

meeting in this room with three legislators, several local officials, and several local dairymen and 

had a really nice 2-hour forum and discussed issues. It was well-received by everyone and I 

would welcome that opportunity again. 

 This was Representative Tom Houghton presenting me with a certificate for being a 

century farm back in '09 at a celebration we had. That weekend we had over 450 people at our 

farm helping us out, so it was really nice. 

 This is a finished shot of what the milking center looks like in the front. Next slide, 

please. 

 That is a typical, we bring in commodity tractor-trailer loads of feeds and those bins hold 

trailer loads of feed, and that is the machine that mixes the feed and feeds the cows at our farm. 

Next slide, please. 

 Partnerships. Some others talked about partnerships. Other key partnerships that we must 

have, we have vendors. We need an infrastructure. Without viable producers, we need good, 

strong vendors. We have to work with our bankers, veterinarians, accountants, nutritionist, also I 

am a member on the Board of Professional Dairy Managers of Pennsylvania. I think that is a key 

group in this State, and also legislators. 

 One other slide, we also started 5-years ago MoochoMilk Transportation with our 



neighbor up the road who milks 600 cows. It is another way for us to add revenue to our farms. 

We haul our own milk to the plants today. The next slide is just another shot of it. 

 This is a quote that I really like, "Farming looks mighty easy when your plow is a pencil, 

and you are a thousand miles from the corn field."  

 I just kind of want to end there, but that is critical. I would encourage each and every one 

of you, I do not expect you to be professionals or experts in every facet that you are presented 

with today, but you got some faces today and some names and do not hesitate to contact us. We 

would love to help you out. 

 Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much, Mr. Moore, for that virtual tour.  

 Representative Petrarca. 

 CHAIRMAN PETRARCA: Thank you, Chairman. Quick question, I do not want to get a 

red card from the Chairman here. Mr. Hertzler, I appreciate your comments on the Milk 

Marketing Act and I hope that this Committee does take a look at that as we move forward in 

this session. 

 Quick question, though, for Mr. Evanish. Regarding feed prices and corn, soy, what have 

you. Where do you see us going with that? Do you see any relief in that as we move forward? 

 MR. EVANISH: Price of feed? 

 CHAIRMAN PETRARCA: Price of feed, yes. 

 MR. EVANISH: The price of those commodities is being politically driven, so you have 

to tell me what the politicians in Washington are going to do. There was talk that they were not 

going to extend the subsidies to ethanol whenever the bill was being passed around 

Christmastime, well, in the process the subsidies got extended. That is driving the price right 



now. 

 CHAIRMAN PETRARCA: What about supply and demand or any of those other 

considerations? 

 MR. EVANISH: Well, in the long-term farmers will produce. That is a truism. I would 

not want to be the operator of a graveyard out west right now because they are going to plow 

over everybody. They are going to make corn because corn right now for our Midwest producers 

is profitable. But can you have 40% of it going to cars and then have enough to put into your 

Corn Flakes and to feed your cows? That is the problem. Relief has to come from a political 

standpoint or we are going to suffer for a couple of years. 

 CHAIRMAN PETRARCA: Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Representative Denlinger. 

 REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: Thank you. Thank you Mr. Chairman, and thank 

you gentleman all for your testimony.  

 Mr. Evanish, you were getting into sort of a brief discussion of the effect of currencies on 

all of this and I appreciate those comments that you made. I am wondering if you can educate us 

a little bit globally on what the nature on future competition will be for our commodities, 

particularly in the crops area. Who is on the rise, who is kind of fading away at this point, who 

are we competing against from an export standpoint? 

 MR. EVANISH: Much of the world is maxed out. It is very interesting that at seminars I 

go to they are always talking, and of course I pay most attention to dairy. But as you look around 

the world, there are not a lot of other places for dairy to come from. Europe is maxed out, they 

are not going to make a lot more milk. New Zealand, a major exporter, certainly not going to 

make a lot more milk. Australia is under water, so their weather is always a problem. So they 



look to us as the ones that are going to be feeding the world. From an export opportunity, 

actually our prices of dairy products in 2007-2008 were materially affected by the fact that we 

had a weak Gulf and New Zealand had issues with weather which happens on an island. So, we 

had a booming economy so people eat out, and that is another important thing for dairy. You do 

not take the pizza home whenever you eat out, you usually leave the stuff on the table, which 

means more product is used. It is kind of interesting. But the United States is where everyone 

looks to see where the future is going to be as far as food production. 

 REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: Which puts a sharper point on your comment about 

federal policy in regard to Ethanol, certainly. 

 MR. EVANISH: Well, exactly. There are so many issues that come into that genetically 

modified corn. There are corns in the pipeline that will yield much more than they are yielding 

today. But will we be allowed to grow them? That becomes an issue. 

 REPRESENTATIVE DENLINGER: Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you. Representative Brooks. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

 This is for the entire panel, and I would like to thank you gentlemen for being here today.  

 If you cannot give a quick answer today, if perhaps you could put some comments 

together and send it to our Committee we would very much appreciate it. On a State level, what 

environmental regulations or mandates seem to be the most cumbersome or expensive for you 

that you are not really seeing direct benefits or results to or the outcomes that were proposed 

when they were passed? If you could put some comments together and send them to our 

Committee I would appreciate it. 

 Thank you very much. 



 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you, Representative Brooks. Representative Lawrence. 

 REPRESENTATIVE LAWRENCE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

 This question is for Mr. Graybill, Mr. Hertzler you also addressed it a little bit. But I note 

here in your testimony it says, "We believe the current pricing system should changed to capture 

and return to the producers the premium dollars that consumers are paying in their milk 

purchases and expect to be paid back to dairy farmers." And then later, "Ensuring all 

Pennsylvania's dairy producers receive their fair share of the premium is a good place to start." 

Could you elaborate where you feel the premium is going as of the moment and what could be 

done to remediate the situation. 

 MR. GRAYBILL: I appreciate the question. I do not think I am qualified to answer that 

question.  

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: We are going to have testimony later today about the Milk 

Marketing Board, so maybe we will cover that then. 

 Thank you all very much. We are going to take a 5-minute, precisely 5-minute break as 

our new panel gets situated so we will start again at 5 minutes after 11. 

 (A brief break was taken.) 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: If everyone would be seated we will begin again. As people are 

taking their seats, I will remind our panelists, because some may not have been aware of this 

information earlier, we are very fortunate to have 20 individuals offering education today about 

the dairy industry. With such a large number of panelists, in order to ensure that all have a fair 

opportunity, we are using a little card system to help keep people on track. To your right, my left, 

Jen Riley during most of your testimony will be holding a green card. When you have 2-minutes 

remaining she will hold up a yellow card. When she holds up the red card, you have 1-minute 



remaining. When that red card disappears hopefully you will be completed or you will hear the 

Farm Show commemorative cow bell.  

 Thank you all very much. Part of the education about the dairy industry is understanding, 

and I think we have gained some of this understanding already, that we are not just talking about 

a farm. We are talking about all of the ancillary and auxiliary support associated with the dairy 

industry. We have a panel today that will touch on some of those aspects led by Dr. Bruce 

McPheron, who is the Dean of Penn State's College of Agriculture Sciences. We are also very 

privileged to have Dr. Joan Hendricks, who is the Dean of the University of Pennsylvania School 

of Veterinary Medicine. Dr. Darcie Stolz, who is a practicing veterinarian with Dairy Production 

Medicine Associates. We have Katrine Parmley-Gates from the Cumberland Valley Cooperative 

to talk about feed supply, and Mike Firestine, Senior Vice President of Fulton Bank who is an 

expert in agricultural lending. 

 Dr. McPheron. 

 DR. McPHERON: Thank you Chairman Maher, Chairman Petrarca, the rest of the 

Committee. I appreciate this opportunity. It will please the Chairman to know that I will try to 

briefly summarize the written remarks I have provided to the Committee, although I fully expect 

to be red carded. It is a professor thing. 

 I am happy to be here to talk a little bit about our College's research and extension 

programs in support of Pennsylvania's dairy industry. We are the only institution in the State of 

Pennsylvania that has the charge of dealing with the complexity of the food and fiber system 

which you so aptly have called the "Cow to the Consumer" in the title of today's hearings. I will 

not talk about our undergraduate education component of our college, although I will remark that 

over the past 5-years we have seen more than a 40% increase in the number of undergraduates 



studying agriculture at Penn State University. We feel that it is a combination of a nationwide 

interest in the food systems and associated environmental systems, but also a testament to the 

quality of the programs and our ability to help students get jobs. 

 You heard Director Frey talk about this earlier, so I will be brief. There has not been a 

time in history when what we do is more critical. Over the next 30-40 years we will see a 50% 

growth in the world's population, increased standards of living in many developing countries will 

require a doubling of the food supply and we will have to accomplish that on less land with less 

water and less energy. At the moment, we do not know how to accomplish that. But we will, 

through research and the training of the bright young minds that I referred to earlier. 

 Innovation is clearly required to meet this challenge, and we can help Pennsylvania 

agriculture meet the challenge. You have heard already this morning, many policies and 

procedures mentioned, things like antibiotics, things like risk-management tools. I will just 

remind the Committee that those policies, those tools, are built on the backs of research. It is the 

work done at Colleges of Agriculture like Penn State's College of Agricultural Sciences and our 

peer institutions that give the science that turns into those tools that are available for farmers and 

for consumers.  

 Let me just go through several different examples that highlight the kind of program we 

are doing. Nutrient management environmental issues in particularly the Chesapeake Bay have 

become a real center stage issue in the dairy industry in Pennsylvania agriculture.  

 We are doing work in things like low protein feeds, but looking at them in coupling with 

animal health and productivity. We are looking at the genetic heritability of feed efficiency and 

trying to determine how that actually rolls into sire selection and herd management. 

 Our Penn State Extension faculty and educators are taking the money that the State 



invests in us through the line items for ag research and ag extension and engaging diverse 

stakeholders in the Conewago Creek Watershed here locally, the Dauphin, Lancaster, Lebanon 

County area. The goal of this project is not only to bring farmers to the table, but to engage the 

community and help all of us understand that a comprehensive approach to nutrient management 

and water quality is required. 

 This project has been cited as a model project by USDA's NRCS. We even leveraged 

money for a youth educator in our extension system to bring the next generation of people 

together to understand the processes. 

 Dr. Rick Day in our Penn State Extension is working to develop and optimize a tool 

called PA One Stop which is an online nutrient balance mapping tool. You heard earlier about 

the need to produce nutrient management plans and requirements for those are high quality 

maps. There has not been an easily accessible tool and State support is allowing that to come into 

being. 

 You are all aware in the area of animal health of the animal diagnostic lab at Penn State 

as one part, and Dr. Hendricks will likely refer to her component of this of the Pennsylvania 

Diagnostic Lab System. That is a nationally known and recognized system for protecting 

livestock health in the State, including the dairy sector. 

 We have done a variety of other things. Antibiotics were mentioned earlier, somatic cell 

counts were mentioned earlier, mastitis, that is work that has been done in the College of 

Agricultural Sciences. To look at the science behind those issues to help inform policy and to try 

to turn them into best management practices that farmers can employ. 

 We are the leader of the Johne's Disease Integrated Program which has brought millions 

of dollars for research on this debilitating disease into Pennsylvania. We manage a Consortion of 



80 different universities across the nation and across the world from Penn State's College of 

Agriculture Sciences partnering to work on this disease. 

 We have a long history of leadership in reproductive technologies. This has had an 

extraordinary impact on the dairy industry and we continue to work on this. Our Center for 

Reproductive Biology and Health is a relatively recent initiative that is particularly designed to 

revitalize the College's presence in reproductive biology. That group of scientists in the last 2-

years has brought $6 million of somebody else's money in. Your investment through the ag 

research line in the Penn State budget is for six people. And they have brought in $6 million of 

somebody else's money over the past 2-years to work on these sorts of problems.  

 Food processing and safety is a critical issue. You have heard a little bit about this 

already. We have folks working in areas as diverse as raw milk and pasteurization. The 

workshops that we provide have national reputations in things like value added aspects of the 

dairy industry, people who are trying to bring value back. You heard a little bit about that with 

just transportation of milk products a little bit earlier. But there are lots of different ways to 

capture part of that value chain, and I don't think I need to remind you of the Penn State Ice 

Cream Short Course in terms of value added. We teach the world how to make high quality ice 

cream.  

 We have a variety of workshops for things like pasteurizer operators and even dairy 

basics for small farms who want to come in and learn how to improve safety and quality of their 

products. 

 Our Penn State's Dairy Extension team is a Statewide initiative. We have, in the past 

couple of years, been making a great effort to consolidate our extension programming around the 

highest impact area, and dairy is clearly one of those given the importance in the State.  



 In 2009-10 programming year we had programs that involved more than 1200 people 

across 47 of Pennsylvania's 67 counties on topics as diverse as nutrient management, 

reproductive management, risk management, the role of technology in dairy, animal welfare 

which has become a huge issue in the livestock industry, profitability, etc. We have worked just 

in that one year with 100 new dairy profit teams around the State. We have helped nearly 250 

dairies actually learn about risk-management strategies. We provide feed management 

certification, precision feeding certification, we are a partner in the Pennsylvania Dairy Summit, 

we plan and conduct the largest nutrition conference for dairy in the nation, with more than 500 

attendees and we sponsor a biennial women and dairy conference. Female heads-of-farms is one 

of the fastest growing demographics in Pennsylvania farms. 

 Just a quick look at our Penn State Extension Dairy Team calendar for 2011, you see a 

variety of programs that are being offered. A mix of things on farms, in meeting locations around 

the State and through the webinar format. Our Technology Tuesday webinar series has grown in 

popularity to try to help farmers and associated industries have a good idea of what is available 

within science for their dairy operations. 

 The work we do in the College of Agricultural Sciences and through Extension across the 

State is supported by the Commonwealth through the ag research and extension lines of the Penn 

State University budget. This funding, which I will remind you, and most of you know this, is 

not leveraged by student tuition. It is the support for a unique mission within the State of 

Pennsylvania. That is securing a healthy future for producers, processors, and consumers of 

Pennsylvania's agricultural products. 

 It can be difficult to remember the critical importance of continued investment in the food 

and fiber system. While most of us battle sickness and are constantly reminded of the importance 



of continued investment in health research, most of us in this room have not gone hungry. It is 

too easy to forget the continuation of an affordable, healthy, and safe food supply relies on 

continued investment in the research and in the education of the next generation of producers and 

informed consumers. I suggest we use this hearing on the key dairy sector as a reminder that we 

cannot rely on the status quo to serve us in the future. We need to continue our investments in 

agriculture to ensure a sustainable future for our children and grandchildren. 

 Thank you. 

 DR. HENDRICKS: Well I am honored and pleased to be here. Thank you Chairman 

Maher and Chairman Petrarca. I think that in addition to this testimony, the single best way to 

educate you further is by visits to either our Philadelphia campus where you can visit the 

Matthew J. Ryan named after the namesake of this building, or our beautiful New Bolton Center 

Campus. You may not know, since some of you are new, that the Chairs of the Ag Committees 

both Senate and House are on our Overseers, so you will routinely be invited to our meetings. 

There is also a joint reception where you are all declared to be, and I am sure you are Friends of 

Veterinary Medicine that we hold jointly with the PVMA, and you will all be invited. 

 I am very happy to be able to be here, and I too will try and be brief, which I think Dean 

McPheron was wonderful at doing. It is a professor thing, and Deans are even worse.  

 I will give you brief ABCs of the Penn Veterinary School. Most veterinary schools are at 

the Land-grant institutions in their States, so if that were the case we would be in beautiful State 

College and have a good football team. Penn was actually founded – the University of 

Pennsylvania was founded long before Penn State, and I can only surmise that when we got the 

gift that allowed the School to be founded at a private institution, they saw Penn State as an 

upstart, I'm not sure. We were founded by the School of Medicine. You will notice that Darcie 



Stolz, who is one of our graduates, and actually both of our graduates, she went to Penn State 

and then to Penn, has a VMD degree and so you can tell graduates of the Penn Veterinary School 

anywhere in the world because that is the only, we are the only school that grants that degree. It 

is the same degree as a DVM, it is just our special degree. 

 We, as is the case with Penn State, the School of Veterinary Medicine serves all of 

Pennsylvania and always has. Moving to the present day. We were founded in 1884. As of now, 

we are now looking at a total enrollment of 500. We were able to increase the enrollment 

recently by opening a new building. We are one of the largest vet schools in the nation. There are 

only 28, and there are only vet schools in 26 States, which you may not know. We are top ranked 

and always have been. We have a major campus that was founded in Philadelphia and when 

serving agriculture within Philadelphia no longer seemed viable, which was as recent as the 

1950s, we opened a New Bolton Center Campus which is almost entirely devoted to serving 

agriculture, both of the major animal industries of Pennsylvania: Animal agriculture and horse 

rearing. The New Bolton Center you may recall was where Barbaro was taken to be cared for. It 

was founded there to clearly better serve animal agriculture. Our catchment area for our local 

service is Chester County, Delaware County, and most importantly, Lancaster County. 

 You may not know that veterinary students ordinarily have a 4-year degree. They can 

come in earlier, but they usually have a 4-year undergraduate degree and then they have an 

additional 4-years of veterinary training during which all veterinary students are educated in all 

species. Every vet student, whatever they think they are going to do eventually, are trained in 

food animals broadly because we are not at Penn State we actually run our own dairy, we run our 

own swine unit. This allows us to craft programs that are very attractive to students. It used to be 

the case that the first animal that they touched as part of their core curriculum were piglets and in 



competition our dairy has moved so that even before they come in, they have the opportunity to 

work in our dairy as sort of a pre hoof-camp session before they come to veterinary school 

during the summer. It is very attractive, and I will comment briefly later on what you probably 

are aware of, which is a sense that there is a shortage of veterinarians who will serve large 

animals and serve food production. We certainly can get them in the door. We have been 

targeting such students – in a good way – we have been recruiting them is probably a better way 

to say that. We have used some of the Commonwealth appropriation to the School, we offset 

tuition dollars for every in-State or Pennsylvania student, we have a further grant that we give to 

students who are interested in food animal to attract them. 

 We also have programs that are beyond the professional degree training, advanced 

training, but especially to practicing veterinarians and our students in addition to classroom 

training and laboratories work in our hospitals where we do see some food animals. We 

subsidize the care of food animals so that it is somewhat more affordable for farmers and so that 

we get the cases in the door, but we also provide pretty extensive farm visits through our field 

service and our students can also do extern shifts with practicing veterinarians or at other 

schools. 

 Broadly, the School has missions of research, education, and service. We continue to be 

able to do all of those, and I think those of you that have been Friends for a long time, you know 

that the School suffered about a third of a cut in our appropriation during the downturn which 

has not been restored. We certainly had to manage within that and maintain our core missions. 

There are some components that I feel are in jeopardy but none has been fully lost yet. Moving 

to these three components, in research, very broadly veterinarians are the only profession that is 

trained to understand the health problems of more than one species. There is an array of people 



who are trained to take care of people in a lot of different ways, but veterinarians are the only 

ones that know how to take care of multiple species and understand the biology. That means that 

where there are diseases that spread between animals like avian flu, like swine flu, and a number 

of other diseases you may know that virtually every bioterror agent is an animal organism that is 

also able to cause ill-health in people. So veterinarians as I know Darcie will talk about more, 

when we train our students we expect them to go out and be on the front lines and detect changes 

and patterns of disease and be part of the public health system in preventing them. 

 I really enjoyed Dean McPheron's summary for you of the importance of agriculture. One 

of the things that I have said to try to convey to people that certainly veterinarians are animal 

lovers, we take care of peoples individual pets and their valuable race horses, but much more 

broadly we are profession that is in the front lines. We stand between humanity and famine and 

plague. I try to get that across in maybe a little more vivid way. We do this through research and 

then we use that research to educate our students. 

 Focusing more on the topic of today, one of the things that is very interesting is that the 

concept that the farm and the farmer can be seen as a patient. The economic health of farmers so 

that they can take good care of their animals and produce abundant, affordable, and safe food 

products including milk is absolutely crucial and we have some of the best thinkers in the world 

on our faculty looking at issues of economic health through managing the animals health and 

welfare.  

 We know that we have in an economic impact sense, every dollar that the 

Commonwealth sends to us has a fairly immediate impact of $3.00 in the usual way it is thought 

of, but in addition this service to agriculture throughout the Commonwealth adds additional 

value. 



 The way that veterinarians are connected to food production is really through the animals 

health. So as you have already heard, cow comfort is a crucial part to animal husbandry, optimal 

production results from the animal being healthy and comfortable, and also helps the farmer be 

economic healthier. Most of this is done best by preventing the animals from ever getting sick in 

the first place. So, superb surveillance, lots of scientific research tools, great education and 

partnership with the farmers and actually a much better animal welfare outcome. The common 

concept is that vets, like doctors, heal you when you are sick. It is way better for you to never get 

sick and that is the case for the cattle as well. 

 Moving to the education in a really broad way, and this is a wonderful accident of the fact 

that we have this geographic split, we are the only vet school in a major metropolitan area in the 

United States, and we also have this beautiful and large and world-leading campus on the edge of 

Lancaster County. We are literally in a position to translate farming issues and help the urban 

public, which of course is the majority of the world right now, to understand the issues that face 

farmers. We can do that on the front lines by translating science to the farmer but we can also do 

it in the city of Philadelphia, for example, by holding conferences and meetings. One of my 

favorite things is watching one of my passionate, brilliant students reeducate somebody who 

thinks that there is such a thing as a factory farm and that it is bad. This is a really excellent role 

for veterinarians. So the education goes from science and professional to farm and to consumer 

and even to legislator and public policy. And so working with you in making educated public 

policy is a wonderful opportunity. 

 So we play a role in food safety and educating people on that. Environmental impact 

roles, we have veterinarians who will interact with farmers and of course our students are our 

major product. I see I am being red-carded, so I will draw to a halt. 



 We provide a lot of service both direct and indirect, and I will close by saying I spent a 

lot of time when I came in as Dean riding on farms with practitioners including Darcie Stolz, and 

a perfect example of the way that this translation happens is the enduring image and memory I 

have of standing in a plain-persons farm, the children were shoeless and running around and 

Darcie and he were conducting very scientific discussions about applying the latest in 

reproductive technology to improving his economics. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: What a wonderful segway.  

 Dr. Stolz. 

 DR. STOLZ: Thank you for the opportunity to offer remarks from the veterinary 

perspective on Pennsylvania's dairy industry. I commend Chairman Maher on bringing together 

the stakeholders of this significant part of the Commonwealth's agricultural community for this 

educational forum. It is critical that Pennsylvanians understand the importance of the dairy 

industry to Pennsylvania's economic success, the importance of food safety as well as food 

security and why it is critical that we put in place the necessary support for this industry. 

 I am Dr. Darcie Stolz and I am a food animal veterinarian in Lancaster County. I 

graduated from the University of Pennsylvania School of Veterinary Medicine in 1982. In 1989 I 

purchased Dairy Production Medicine Associates and have been owner since that time. DPMA is 

a 100% food animal practice comprised of 95% dairy and 5% beef and small ruminant work. 

There are three veterinarians in my practice and there is always a veterinarian on call, 24/7, 365 

days a year. Our goals as a practice are not only to abide by the Veterinary Oath but also to 

provide services and education to our clients. We accomplish this through monthly newsletters, 

an annual client education meeting, on-farm client education forums, and written treatment 

protocols. 



 We are committed to help ensure the health and well-being of their animals, and thus 

enable the dairyman to produce a safe, wholesome, and healthy product for consumers. A 

successful and efficient dairy industry also improves the ability of producers to be good stewards 

of the land and provide for a quality of life for their family. 

 Our practice's clientele is 75% Amish and about 25% Mennonite and English. Our 

client's farms are primarily family owned, and generally small in size. Herd size ranges from 30-

500 milking cows with an average of 50-80 cows per herd. The smaller dairies in our area often 

have a second industry to help supplement their income such as tobacco and woodworking. 

 As a food animal veterinarian, I support dairy producers' efforts to keep their herds 

healthy and Pennsylvania's food safe. Just as you take your children or yourself to the doctor for 

regular check-ups and vaccinations, dairy veterinarians provide routine preventative medical 

services to the animals in our care. We truly strive to promote health and protect against disease 

rather than to treat after the fact. Part of preventative care is measuring and monitoring 

production parameters. A healthy cow is a productive cow which produces a large quantity of 

high quality milk. By using established parameters such as Dairy Herd Improvement Association 

records and on farm measurements, veterinarians can intervene earlier when problems arise such 

as cow milk production or milk component imbalances, and also assess the overall nutrition of 

the entire milking herd. 

 Another area that veterinarians assist with is udder health. We can monitor somatic cell 

counts, bulk tank milk cultures, treatment records and protocols, and DHIA reports. Quality milk 

is essential to meet consumer demands. Udder health impacts the quality of milk in factors such 

as shelf life and off flavors to the consumer. Improved udder health can increase production, and 

is extremely important for farm productivity and sustainability. Assuring high milk quality is 



critical to establish and maintain export markets.  

 The most important factor in profitability on the dairy is to have a healthy cow which will 

breed back in a timely manner to produce milk and herd replacements for the following year. 

Veterinarians monitor reproductive health using routine, on-farm pregnancy diagnosis and 

uterine health check-ups, as well as monitoring DHIA reports and on-farm data. They also 

recommend appropriate management strategies to maximize reproductive health to meet the 

herds goals. We develop vaccination protocols specific to each farm for both young stock and the 

adult herd. 

 Veterinarians are integral in improving cow comfort including all aspects of well-being. 

Veterinarians help ensure the quality of life of the animals, providing insight on housing and 

facility design to optimize cow comfort. We recommend management practices to implement 

which will improve and maintain cow comfort and we monitor progress by utilizing scores 

related to hygiene, lameness, and body condition. 

 Another critical role of veterinarians on farms is accurate diagnosis of disease. 

Veterinarians are the first line of defense, as Dean Hendricks mentioned, for our food supply. By 

being on the farm and interacting with the herd, the veterinarian can identify early signs of 

disease and control outbreaks and minimize the potential for major impacts on public and animal 

health and food safety. Once a diagnosis is made, veterinarians develop responsible treatment 

protocols. Treatment protocols are developed for each farm so that a written procedure is on the 

farm for the dairyman to follow for the treatment of specific problems. This helps to ensure that 

damaging effects to the entire herd are minimized and the health of each animal is restored as 

soon as possible. Written protocols also include proper handling and treatment of downed cows. 

When treatment of animals is either unsuccessful or injuries are extensive, veterinarians are 



responsible for directing the humane euthanasia of these animals. 

 Dairy veterinarians also recommend judicious, appropriate and legal pharmaceutical 

usage. They help ensure that no residues enter the food chain by establishing and promoting 

proper drug dosing strategies, optimum routes of administration, and withholding times. Proper 

and appropriate pharmaceutical use is paramount to a safe and wholesome product for 

consumers, especially in regards to antibiotic residues and resistance. It is important to note that 

this issue is hotly debated, but many research publications indicate that the majority of antibiotic 

resistance in humans does not come from animals. Through judicious antibiotic therapies, animal 

health can be maintained, consumers can be assured of high quality residue free food, and 

antibiotic resistance is minimized. These issues are major concerns for Pennsylvania consumers, 

as in some eastern United States markets, dairy cows may provide nearly 50% of all beef. 

 Dairy veterinarians not only deal with infectious diseases, but most provide veterinary 

care for metabolic disorders like milk fever, ketosis, merits, orthopedic/musculo-skeletal diseases 

like lameness, trauma from lacerations, and obstetrical and reproductive cases like dystocia and 

C-sections. They also perform general surgery for abdominal conditions and lacerations. 

 Veterinarians also assist producers with nutrient management by evaluating and 

sometimes formulating dairy rations. By assisting the herds nutritionist or at times providing 

nutritional advice, cost effective feeding programs can be developed. This can greatly assist in 

promoting farm profitability while also helping producers develop plans for managing waste and 

minimizing the impact of their farm on the environment. 

 In conclusion, the care and well-being of dairy animals and the use of antibiotics to keep 

animals healthy and our food supply safe are under scrutiny by consumers of dairy products as 

well as concerned citizens. In general, producers and veterinarians have prided themselves over 



the past few decades by documenting significant production gains in all animal agriculture 

enterprises. In particular, the veterinary profession has been in the forefront in development and 

promotion of significant improvements in the health and care of animals under their watch. 

Veterinarians are an essential component of the necessary infrastructure supporting the dairy 

industry. They are also the first line of defense on the farm in the case of a disease outbreak 

important to public health and food safety through their understanding of disease. Dairy 

veterinarians continuously improve their skills and knowledge to ensure the public that the dairy 

industry is meeting or exceeding accepted standards for food safety, environmental stewardship, 

and animal care. 

 Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much, Dr. Stolz. 

 Next is Miss Katrine. Katrine Parmley-Gates from the Cumberland Valley Cooperative to 

talk a bit about feed supply. 

 MISS PARMLEY-GATES: Good morning Mr. Chairman and members of the House Ag 

and Rural Affairs Committee. Thank you for this opportunity to offer testimony on the state of 

the dairy industry from a cooperative perspective. We are farmer-owned. 

 My name is Katrine Parmley-Gates, I work for Cumberland Valley Cooperative 

Association in Shippensburg, Pennsylvania. We have been in business for 82-years. The 

predominant counties that we serve are Adams, York, Franklin, Cumberland, and Perry.  

 In the past 5-years we have invested in people to be able to offer products and services 

that enable our patrons to manage their whole total farming operation. I believe you have this in 

my written testimony as well as a handout, what we have done is you look at soils, again, we are 

talking about whole farms. Soils, livestock, feed, manure, crops, and fertilizer. We manufacture 



feed and have an agronomy side of our business. What we have done, you can look how each 

piece of these interact and the arrows go both ways, and look at the products and services that we 

offer around that. 

 With that, this morning I would like to highlight some points from my written testimony. 

Feed sales are about 56% of our total business. Dairy is about 70% of that and has a decrease 

over the past few years. The number of cows in the herd that we serve range from 10-550. 

Predominant size is 45-50. The average size in Pennsylvania is about 63, so we are not at the 

average size. 

 On the agronocs side or the agronomy side which is 44% of our business, 30% of the 

sales are directly into the dairy industry. 

 Over the past 5-years we have seen dramatic changes in practices. Soil sampling has 

increased more than 150%. The number of custom landed fertilizers has increased exponentially. 

When we talk about the dairy industry we talk about feeding the cow based on their forages and 

milk production, and 20-years ago we started doing customized feeds. We do customized feeds 

to meet the needs of the individual farms. Now we are starting to do customized fertilizer blends 

that meet the needs of that field depending on what crop is going to be planted. In soils, you are 

not feeding the soil, you are feeding the plant that is going to be planted into that soil. So, again, 

that has drastically changed how we have done business. 

 Importing liquid hog manure and poultry litter has increased, and also changes to the no-

till scenario. We have farms at 100% no-till at this point. 

 Custom applications; by that I mean spraying and spreading whether it is liquid fertilizers 

or liming or dry fertilizers, programs have changed. That may be attributed to the change in 

genetics for the seed corn which has come, you see dramatic differences over the years. Now 



soybeans is working that way. Additionally, we have management tactics and crop management. 

 Our patrons have concerns about spending wisely, water quality, and environmental 

regulations which I think you have heard already multiple times today. Our patrons take 

advantage of the many programs, whether it is a Penn State Extension, programs that we offer, 

newsletters, workshop seminars, so that they can better improve their operations to stay viable 

and to be sustainable. 

 Over the past 3-years we have provided over 133 plans, balanced worksheets including 

one odor management plan to our patrons. If we take a look at the group of our patrons, 60% of 

our patrons from the dairy feed side are of the plain sect, 40% are from our agronomy side. The 

plain patrons rarely take advantage of the government programs. The best management practices 

that they have in place and that they have put in place may not necessarily be accounted for when 

looking at government statistics. 

 Cash flow, as you have heard before several times, is the number one concern when 

asked of our patrons. Absolutely. There is nothing else that tops that. Water quality and the 

possibility of new regulations. One of the items that was mentioned by one of our gentlemen, and 

you have heard today, is animal welfare regulations. I think that people look at California and the 

possibility of what or may not be going on in Ohio is a concern. They realize, even in the plain 

sect group that it can happen in our backdoor. It can happen to them. It can happen to us. 

 With less than 2% of the population involved in agriculture and the explosion of 

information on the internet, correct or incorrect, you think about the YouTube videos, the dairy 

industry is under great scrutiny. 

 In summary, the health of the dairy industry in Pennsylvania does have an economic 

impact on our business, our employees, and our local economy. We hope to continue to educate, 



grow, and offer services that best fit our patrons' needs and to keep our business and the dairy 

industry sustainable in south-central PA. 

 Thank you very much for this opportunity to speak before you, and if I can be of any 

further assistance I would love to be. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much. 

 On behalf of the Pennsylvania Bankers Association is our expert in farm credit, Mike 

Firestine. 

 MR. FIRESTINE: Well, good morning Chairman Maher, Chairman Petrarca and the 

honorable members of the Pennsylvania House Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee and 

staff. My name is Michael Firestine. I am Senior Vice President of Agricultural Lending with 

Fulton Bank in Lancaster. I appreciate the opportunity to discuss the dairy industry with you 

from the perspective of an agricultural lender and a financial service provider. 

 I also Chair the Pennsylvania Bankers Association's Agriculture and Rural Issues 

Committee, which is comprised of agriculture lenders from throughout Pennsylvania. 

 The Pennsylvania Bankers Association is a Statewide trade association representing 

approximately 160 financial institutions of all sizes throughout the Commonwealth including 

national and State banks, bank and trust companies, savings institutions and their subsidiaries 

and affiliates. 

 The Pennsylvania Bankers Agriculture and Rural Issues Committee is focused on 

promoting the important role that Pennsylvania banks play in providing credit and other financial 

services to the agriculture industry and for today's purposes, the dairy industry. Our aim is to 

help educate policy makers and other segments of the agriculture industry about this so we can 

continue to be involved in important policy decisions that are made concerning agriculture in this 



State. 

 In my outline below, I will discuss more about the PBA Agriculture Committee, tell you 

a little more about the services that we provide for dairy farmers, and provide a snapshot of the 

dairy industry – you have seen that snapshot about four times already today – and how we 

worked with our dairy customers through the most crucial time that I can ever remember 

growing up as a boy on a dairy farm, and that was the dairy crisis of 2009 which was referred to 

several times today. 

 How did we, as the Pennsylvania Bankers Association Agriculture Committee respond to 

the dairy pricing crisis? Well, the PBA Agriculture and Rural Issues Committee held two 

meetings with Vice-Chairman of the House Agriculture Committee, Tim Holden. We wanted to 

be assured that the Farm Service Agency had adequate funding. We discussed emergency farm 

loans for financially distressed dairy farmers. We also discussed milk pricing. We also met with, 

at that time, Secretary of Agriculture Dennis Wolff and we had discussions on special loan 

programs from the Department of Community and Economic Developed for financially stressed 

dairy farmers. 

 Why are banks committed to agricultural lending? Well, one of the reasons is it is low 

delinquency, low charge-offs, and it is the number one industry in Pennsylvania. So just to give 

you my little brief overview of the dairy industry. We are the fourth largest State in the United 

States in sales from milk. We have 8,407 dairy farm in the State of Pennsylvania. Lancaster 

County, where our home base of Fulton Bank is, has 1,939 dairy farmers, which makes it the 

largest county in Pennsylvania. The value of milk sold in Pennsylvania is $1,890,000.00. In 

Lancaster County it was $387,000. Now, Pennsylvania dairy produce about 1.2 billion gallons of 

milk annually. On the average, milk produced in Pennsylvania is sold, retailed, within 50-100 



miles from the farm where it was produced, which gives Pennsylvania farmers an edge in the 

milk. 

 Fulton Bank is a community bank headquartered in Lancaster, Pennsylvania, and we have 

a strong commitment to the number one industry in Pennsylvania. We are the largest agricultural 

lender east of the Mississippi River, we are the 12th largest agricultural portfolio in the United 

States. Our current portfolio size is $600,000,000. We provide bank services to farmers in 

Pennsylvania, which includes: deposit accounts, investments, loans, estate planning, and farm 

transitions, which is very important. All of our agriculture loan officers have a background in 

agriculture, and most of them have their own farming operations. We are an intricate part of the 

farm community. We support the Pennsylvania Farm Show, we support local fairs, our 

agricultural lenders serve on various farm organization boards and committees, and we are strong 

supporters of our youth through 4H and FFA programs and other youth organizations. 

 What was our response to the 2009 pricing crisis? Fulton Bank assisted dairy farmers 

during the crisis by sponsoring seminars. We had speakers from Pennsylvania State University, 

Pennsylvania Farm Bureau that addressed topics on how to reduce their expenses. They 

discussed hedging of milk and feed, if it was practical. And one of the biggest expenses on a 

farm is the cost of feed, so we had discussions on that. We provided capital for dairy farmers by 

using over lines of credit. An over line of credit is additional funding in addition to their regular 

line of credit. We did debt consolidation to reduce their payments. The most important thing we 

did was keep our senior management up to date on the crisis that was taking place. We also, our 

staff, provided hundreds of hours one-on-one with debt counseling with our farmers to help them 

cope with this financial crisis. 

 When you look at taking a 60% cut in your salary, you have a lot of financial problems 



and you are quite concerned. Fulton Bank formed a stronger alliance with the Farm Service 

Agency. We utilized Farm Agency's low interest rate and guaranteed loan programs. We 

required our farmers to do some things they did not do before: Prepare budgets, and project their 

cash flow for a year beyond using current prices that we had received from Penn State University 

from Dr. Dunn. Fulton Bank did not foreclose on one dairy farm as a result of the 2009 farm 

crisis. 

 I have enclosed information in your packets referring to the Dodd-Frank Act which has 

regulations that we are going to have to live with. And unfortunately, it is going to change 

banking as we know it today. We have, of course we report to the federal regulators and if you 

pull up the FDIC Web site they are now comparing farm loans to the commercial loan portfolios 

that collapsed a year or two years ago. Some of that, as a result of all of the negative publicity of 

the 2009 farm crisis. 

 Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much. 

 Representative Bloom. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BLOOM: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Dean McPheron, you 

mentioned the growth you are experiencing in the College of Ag Sciences in terms of student 

participation, student enrollment. Can you highlight some of the areas in particular, some of the 

particular academic courses of study that are growing? And also talk about the success of the 

graduates of this program in securing job placement in this tough economic environment. 

 DR. McPHERON: Certainly. Of interest to the people in this room today, the animal 

sciences continue to be the single most popular entry-major and those are our largest programs. 

In fact, most of them want to be veterinarians. We do our best to send them. A few of them get 



into second semester Chemistry and choose a different career path, but we can talk about that 

offline. 

 We have seen growth in new majors that we have created, but most encouraging to me, 

long-standing majors that really hit at the heart of agriculture: agribusiness, food science, 

environmental resource management, have all increased in numbers in recent years have been 

part of that 40% growth. 

 I can give you the highs and the lows in terms of employment. We have to rely on student 

self-reporting where they are heading. Food science graduates from Penn State University, for 

students who wish to work in the discipline, have had 100% placement for the last 9-years. Now 

that is clearly at one end of the distribution, but I think it attends to the fact that we are making 

career ready graduates. We have a very heavy emphasis on experiential learning. We want them 

in internships, we want them traveling internationally, we want them to see what the world is 

like. So they get the class work and we professors frequently forget to say, think about 

everything simultaneously, those external experiences are the punctuation on the class work that 

we give them. It makes them really solve problems. 

 Overall, I would say that last year the students reporting back to us in the neighborhood 

of about 70% were reporting that they, upon graduation, had either a job lined up, a professional 

school or graduate school they were going to attend, or were in the interview process. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BLOOM: Thank you, Dean. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Representative Tina Pickett. 

 REPRESENTATIVE PICKETT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

 This is for Dr. Stolz. You mentioned this subject, but I am wondering if you could just 

enlarge a little bit on it. I recently had a gentleman from the PennAg Industries bring it to me as a 



concern, thinking there may be some legislation that we will have to face, I am talking about the 

use of antibiotics. The potential misinformation that is out there in the public realm about 

overuse, about monitoring, about regulation. Could you just give us a little more of the picture of 

the chain of command that is there to be able to make sure that the public can feel assured in this 

area? 

 DR. STOLZ: Well, there is a fact sheet in your packet that might help define that even 

more closely. From my end of the spectrum as a boots on the ground veterinarian, maintaining a 

safe residue free product is just a drug usage, utilizing antibiotics in the species that they are 

intended in the dosage that they are recommended by the route of administration. So whether it 

goes intravenously or intramuscularly will have different residue implications and withholding 

times, which is a major concern. The whole judicial use of antibiotics goes up the whole food 

chain and AABP which is American Association of Bovine Practitioners, of course the PVMA 

has certainly been involved in promoting guidelines and trying to educate the consumers as well 

as everyone from a grassroots level through the veterinary community and everywhere on proper 

antibiotic usage. The regulations and everything involved are probably something that I would 

like to look into more for you that I do not have right on the top of my head, but I can get back to 

you. 

 REPRESENTATIVE PICKETT: Thank you. You mentioned the regulation that keeps 

that from ending up in the marketplace, and that would be particularly interesting. Thank you. 

 REPRESENTATIVE KAVULICH: Mr. Firestine, when it comes to repayment of loans, 

how do those in the agriculture and dairy industry compare with other consumers? Are they able 

to handle these loans? Do they need additional help? How do you find that? 

 MR. FIRESTINE: Our agriculture loan portfolio is one of the cleanest portfolios in our 



bank. I had the opportunity to Chair the Agriculture Rural Bankers Committee in Washington, 

D.C., and when I compared Pennsylvania to Nebraska, to Washington, to Texas, we are very 

unique in this area. Our farmers make their payments a priority. We are also concerned about this 

young lady sitting to my right, to make sure that she gets paid also. So we wear several hats. I am 

a banker, I am a counselor, I am a financial advisor. We work very closely with their 

accountants. We have a close alliance with their accountants because it is more important now 

than it ever has been for them to understand their income statement, to be able to prepare a 

budget, and to know what it costs them to produce 100 pounds of milk. They have to be business 

people as well as a farmer, and that is what makes farming more difficult than it ever was. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you Representative Kavulich. 

 And I just to thank the members of this panel, particularly the Dean of the School of 

Agricultural Science and the Dean of the School of Veterinary Medicine. I think you have helped 

add to the understanding that your mission is distinguishable from some of the other University 

funding that Pennsylvania proceeds with because of the importance of the research, because of 

the importance of the laboratories and the way that that really has a boots on the ground effect. It 

is not simply some ivory tower exercise, it really affects the quality of Pennsylvania agriculture 

and Pennsylvania dairy. Doctor, I appreciate your testimony and I was understanding that there 

seems to be a scarcity of large animal veterinarians, particularly in the bovine area. Can you 

comment on that? 

 DR. STOLZ: Yes. As the veterinary classes increase in size, there is a smaller proportion 

that are interested in food animal. I think sometimes they get the wrong idea that our hours are 

horrendous and the workload is terrible, but I know personally trying to find a new graduate that 

is willing to be involved in food animal has become a real challenge and we certainly commend 



the work that Dean Hendricks and the veterinary school has done to try to encourage and help 

these students with tuition. As new graduates come out facing anywhere from $120-160,000 debt 

for veterinary school alone, that does not include the 4-years of prevet that it takes, it is quite a 

financial burden to new graduates and then locating themselves in a rural area where salaries 

may tend to trend a little bit lower than urban areas, small animal practices, it can be a real 

challenge. I know of practices that have been looking for years for an associate or transition out 

to sell their practices. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you. And I might note, there are moments that you can 

have hope. Among our standing-room only crowd today, at least at some point was Kaitlin Ferry 

who hopes to be a bovine, food animal veterinarian. I do not know if she will have a chance to 

say hello to you or not.  

 Representative Brooks. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

 You mentioned a shortage of the large animal veterinarians. Is it because you have less 

students applying? Is there not the availability of larger classes or the capacity to teach these 

students? Why do you see this shortage? 

 DR. STOLZ: I think there is a less availability of the applicant pool.  

 DR. HENDRICKS: The reference has been made to the fact that most people do not grow 

up on a farm background, so we are really ordinarily converting people from an urban or 

suburban upbringing to be interested in farm animal, food production work. We can do that, and 

we have, actually the majority of our class comes in now interested in something other than 

small animal practice. We have a phenomenal program. We make sure they are aware of that, we 

reach out to schools, we work with a lot of partners. The Department of Agriculture, The PVMA, 



the Farm Bureau, farmers, veterinarians, Penn State, to try to make it clear that it is an exciting 

and absolutely crucial field. We feel we get them in the door, we feel we give them a good 

education, the economics of farming and the reality of rural life are both really challenging. And 

you heard about the economics of dairy farming a lot, and I think you would hear extensively 

also about the difficulty of retaining or bringing people back to a rural setting. All of those 

factors also affect dairy veterinarians specifically, but all kinds of food production. We have 

looked at ways to address all of those areas, and anything that requires money is now off the 

table because the funding is obviously gone, but there are other ways to network and try to retain 

people in practice and having them connect with people like Darcie, mentoring abilities is one of 

the crucial things. People want to do work that is valuable and mission driven. They really want 

to, and they enjoy the education. It is incredibly interesting. The jobs and retaining them at a 

rural setting is really, really touch. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: So you are seeing a smaller number of applicants, not a 

decrease in the capacity to accept the students that are applying. 

 DR. HENDRICKS: No, we are seeing a good number of applicants. They are rising. We 

are seeing a good retention in training, it is the ability to find jobs and then to stay in practice. 

Finding jobs that they can afford to live with. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: And pay their student loan. 

 DR. HENDRICKS: Pay their loans. Right. So the pipeline is reasonably good, and we 

work very hard at Penn. Across the country there are veterinary schools that have zero people 

that graduate as food animal interested when they are done, and we are much better than that. We 

have been increasing it. However, we lost one of, one of our students would have been the 10th-

generation dairy farmer and went to California. Because that is where the job where he could use 



his education was. That is a very complex issue that requires a lot of alliance. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: To any potential applicants watching this, what is the 

average salary? 

 DR. HENDRICKS: In dairy practice? 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: In the rural area, yes. 

 DR. HENDRICKS: It is not as low as equine is what I would say. It is not as low as 

people think. Veterinarians on average end up, they go out with $60-70,000 starting salary which 

is a good living, but when you are paying off essentially a mortgage. What I know is the 

common story, but one of the things that we wanted to do in our alliance was get real data, is that 

people go into a rural setting, they are interested in a mix practice, and the small animal practice 

ends up subsidizing the dairy or food animal production practice and eventually they may get to 

where they just close down the dairy practice. 

 DR. STOLZ: There is quite a range. I always worry about averages and when you read 

Journal articles and you hear what the average starting salary is for food animal veterinarians, 

and so the answer is it is very variable. It is where you are located, how much of the practice may 

be subsidized by other aspects of veterinary medicine. 

 And if I could just quickly add, I think one of the big keys to maintaining the interest in 

food animal or large animal veterinary medicine is early exposure. I grew up in the suburbs of 

Erie, Pennsylvania and had absolutely no clue about what a food animal was until I went to Penn 

State, and now with only 2% of the population related to agriculture, it is even more critical that 

we get exposure earlier. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: Thank you very much. I think for many of your 

applicants it goes beyond your salary, the salaries, it goes for the love of farming as well as 



wanting to stay in the rural area and help our farmers. So thank you very much. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you all very much. We will be transitioning panels and 

take a very brief respite while people rearrange. Thank you. 

 (A brief break was taken.) 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you all, once again, for being with us. Our next panel is 

focusing on after the cow has been milked and what happens. It will commence with Richard 

Kriebel, who is Chairman of the Pennsylvania Milk Marketing Board, followed by Todd Rutter 

from Rutter's Dairy, and then we have a number of panelists who are associated with 

cooperatives. I will see if I have this order correct. Joyce Bupp will lead that panel from the 

Dairy Farmers of America of Western Pennsylvania, followed by Richard Mosemann from the 

Maryland & Virginia Milk Producers Cooperative Association, followed by Jim Madigan of 

Dairylea, Tom Wakefield, Land O'Lakes, and Mr. Kriebel and Mr. Rutter, you each have 10 

minutes and each of those from the cooperatives you each have 5-minutes. 

 If you would, sir. 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: Thank you, Chairmen Maher and Petrarca and members of the 

Committee. I appreciate the opportunity to share Pennsylvania Milk Marketing Board's role in 

the dairy industry and in the agriculture industry here in Pennsylvania. 

 I am Richard Kriebel and I am Chairman of the Pennsylvania Milk Marketing Board. I 

reside in Columbia County. I am going to stray from the printed testimony that you have, but I 

hope you will be able to follow along, though. 

 The Milk Marketing Board is an independent State agency which primarily administers 

two laws: the Milk Marketing Law and the Milk Producers Security Act. Before describing those 

laws and the Board's function in more detail, I would like to give you some more background 



information about the Pennsylvania dairy industry and the Board itself.  

 A lot of the members have shared with you the value of the dairy industry in 

Pennsylvania, so I am not going to belabor that fact. The Board consists of three members, 

Barbara Grumbine, Luke Brubaker, and myself. We are appointed by the Governor for 6-year 

terms with the advice and the consent of the Senate. In addition to the three Board members, we 

currently employ 23 people and have a budget of approximately $2.4 million. The Board 

receives – make note of this – no General Fund appropriation. 97% of the Board's funding comes 

from licensing fees paid by milk dealers and milk haulers.  

 The Pennsylvania dairy industry is somewhat unique with the Milk Marketing Law 

contributing to the uniqueness. The unique characteristics of the dairy industry affect the 

operation of the law. Pennsylvania has a larger proportion of small to midsize dairy operations, 

and you have heard that before, than any other important dairy producing State in Pennsylvania. 

It also has an unparalleled diversity of dairy processors and manufacturing providing 

Pennsylvania's consumers with a greater variety of products and brands to choose from. 

Pennsylvania has more dairy processors per capita than any of the neighboring States. The large 

array of processors also provides Pennsylvania producers enhanced opportunities and increases 

the competition for Pennsylvania produced milk.  

 The Board administering the Milk Marketing Law and the Milk Producers Security Act is 

responsible for the economic regulation of milk in Pennsylvania from cow to consumer. The goal 

of that economic regulation is to provide a framework that facilitates a safe, adequate supply of 

milk that provides security for dairy farmers and milk dealers. That helps ensure profitability for 

dairy farmers, milk dealers, and retailers of the milk and that also provides the best possible price 

for consumers within an orderly market. 



 The Board sets minimum producer, wholesale, and retail prices as a part of that 

comprehensive legislation program to ensure the Pennsylvania dairy producers an adequate 

supply of milk to meet the fluid milk demands of Pennsylvania consumers. To accomplish that 

legislative mandate, the Board must give equal consideration to all segments of the dairy 

industry. The Board established minimum prices are based on the costs incurred by the various 

segments of the Pennsylvania dairy industry to produce, process, to distribute, and to sell the 

milk. The Board determines those costs based on evidence presented at public hearings. 

 Each year the Board holds at least two public hearings to determine the level of Board 

mandated over order premium. The over order premium is an amount that is paid to 

Pennsylvania producers over the applicable federal order Class 1 price for milk produced, 

processed, and sold in Pennsylvania. For February 2011, the over order premium is $2.74 per 

hundredweight. Now, the producers sell their milk on a per hundredweight basis, we purchase it, 

or you purchase it at the stores in a per gallon capacity. There are 11.6 gallons of milk in every 

hundred pounds of milk.  

 So the price is comprised of a base premium of the $2.15 per hundred and a $0.59 per 

hundredweight fuel adjustment, which varies monthly based on diesel fuel costs. In recent years, 

the over order premium has primarily been set based on market conditions in Pennsylvania and 

surrounding States. The experts recommendations presented at public hearings have generally 

advocated extricating the greatest return possible for the market to benefit Pennsylvania 

producers while at the same time not threatening the market so those producers, and providing 

milk to Pennsylvania consumers at a reasonable cost. 

 Each year the Board also holds public hearings for each of the six milk marketing areas to 

determine the costs incurred by the milk dealers to produce, process, and deliver milk in the 



stores in each area. We have six regions within Pennsylvania, and due to their uniqueness their 

costs vary somewhat. The costs are based on the average audited costs of a representative cross-

section of milk dealers doing business in those designated areas.  

 In addition to determining milk dealer costs, the Board also receives evidence at each of 

these public hearings regarding the average costs incurred by stores to handle and sell the 

packaged milk. In recent years a base in-store handling cost has been determined in each of the 

areas, and that base has then been adjusted monthly based on the changes and the Consumer 

Price Index, or the CPI.  

 Broadly speaking, the average dealer costs are added to the farm costs for the milk 

including the over order premium to arrive at the minimum wholesale price. The in-store 

handling cost is then added to the minimum wholesale price to arrive at the minimum retail 

price. Basing the minimum wholesale and retail prices on average costs incurred by processors 

and retailers provides an incentive to the processors and the retailers to operate efficiently and 

keep costs down. Processors with above average costs will either have to sell above the Board 

established minimum price and risk losing business or sell at the Board's established minimum 

price. Cost based minimum prices will eliminate price wars that cause backward price pressure 

and destructive competition. 

 One other point to consider regarding minimum retail prices is that because these prices 

are readily available to consumers, competition among stores results in those minimum prices 

also becoming de facto maximum prices. So while you will not see promotional prices in 

Pennsylvania for $0.99/gallon milk, you will also not see promotional prices one week followed 

by the milk being sold for $4.50/gallon.  

 Monthly changes in the minimum price which are based on the monthly changes in the 



farm cost of milk, along with competition among stores also prevents retail price stickiness. 

When the farm price goes down, minimum retail prices also go down. Stores reset their prices at 

the lower minimum. Of course, increase in farm price also results in increases in the minimum 

retail price. 

 Regardless of the existence of the occasional deep discounting at retail in surrounding 

States, in the prohibition against selling milk below the retail minimum price in Pennsylvania 

establishes the prices our consumers pay for milk are comparable to or lower than prices in the 

surrounding States. I know there has been a lot of discussion about the possibility of revising our 

State laws, our Milk Marketing laws, and I would encourage you as you address those issues, 

this Milk Marketing law has been very productive for the dairy industry in Pennsylvania. So any 

changes to that, I would incur and encourage you to make sure you have a 3rd party economic 

impact study done before any law is advanced.  

 That is my presentation, I will be open for questions. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you, Mr. Kriebel. 

 Mr. Rutter. 

 PRESIDENT RUTTER: Good afternoon. My name is Todd Rutter, from Rutter's Dairy 

in York, Pennsylvania. Rutter's is a 3rd generation family owned milk processing operation that 

is actually celebrating our 90th anniversary in 2011. Our operation is located on our original 

family farm that has been owned by our family for 264-years. We have been milking cows and 

farming cows in Pennsylvania for almost as long as there has been a Pennsylvania. We tend to 

think our roots are very strongly planted in Pennsylvania agriculture. 

 To my knowledge, we are the oldest continuously exhibitor of Guernsey cows in the 

dairy section at the Pennsylvania Farm Show. Just this last October we had two 1st in Class All-



American cows at the Guernsey National Show in Madison, Wisconsin. 

 I am here today representing a processing operation, but we are as a family and as a 

family well versed in historically in all facets of the Pennsylvania dairy industry. I am also a 

graduate of the wonderful Penn State College of Agriculture. I do have a degree in food science, 

and I can personally vouch that that second-year Chemistry is all that it is cracked up to be. 

 As I said earlier, I am here representing the processing sector. The processors are that 

segment of the dairy industry that is in charge of getting milk from the farm, doing something 

with it and getting it into a consumerable, purchasable, edible form. Whether that be fluid milk, 

cheese, cottage cheese, sour cream, ice cream, powder or butter, that is the responsibility of the 

segment that I am representing here today. 

 They did give me carte blanche of what I wanted to talk about, so I am going to break the 

first speaker rule and I am going to skip all of my prepared notes. Having been here all day 

today, I am trying to put myself in your folks position. You are trying to learn 3,000 years of a 

very steadfast Pennsylvania industry in 4-hours, so there are a couple of points that I personally 

would like you all to go home with. I know you can read the rest of the testimony later. 

 The first is that in my opinion, Pennsylvania is extremely fortunate to have so many 

family businesses in the dairy industry. From the farmer to the processor to the haulers to the 

people that supply the feed to the vets, and even to retail store owners, you will not find another 

State that has so many family businesses still engrained in our industry as Pennsylvania. It has 

been the backbone of our industry, and I think we as an industry, and we ask for help from the 

legislature to do everything that we can for ourselves to ensure that that backbone stays rooted in 

the family business sector. For us to follow the path of other States and go down to mega 

corporations would be a huge detriment to the State of Pennsylvania. 



 The second point I have is that I am sure you are aware now that the dairy industry in 

Pennsylvania is extremely complicated. We are an intertwined mess of companies, businesses 

that are so attached at the hips that we cannot get out of each other's way. In my opinion, there is 

no way to do anything within this industry—  would put us in a balloon and when you push on 

one side, the other side pops out. I think Pennsylvania dairy industry is that balloon and we are 

all in this together. We don't always like to admit that, but we are our own survival. We 

processors, we can't process anything without the milk. Farmers are our lifeline. Without that 

cow out there grazing and producing milk we have nothing to do, consumers have nothing to 

drink, and so we are very intertwined and you can't do something in one segment without it 

being a ripple effect in the other segments. 

 The third, in my opinion from a lifetime in this industry, we like stability. We like to 

know what the rules are, and we hate it when things outside of our control mess with us. We do 

not react very well, just like a cow does not react very well when you change her environment 

very suddenly, her milk production will drop 30 or 40% in a week, this industry does not react 

very well to unstable economic work conditions. Whether it be the ethanol issue, or a 

government, or the world exports, whatever it is, we don't like things that we can't control in our 

industry. We like to know what the rules are, we like to know how that game is going to be 

played, and then we are very adapt in all aspects of being able to take our business, change it to 

meet those new rules and standards and regulations, and then thrive. If we don't know what is 

happening, all we do is flounder. I think the whole country is floundering right now, to be honest 

with you, but the dairy industry is floundering right with them. There are so many things that we 

don't know what is going to happen from a federal level to the State level to the local level to the 

township level to our school districts, how much, are we going to get new taxes, are we going to 



get triple taxes, what's ethanol going to do, what's it not going to do, are they going to eliminate 

this price program, there are so many unknowns that nobody knows what to do. So we are all just 

doing what we have always done and hoping it is going to work. We have educated people in our 

business, we have plenty of Universities to support us, we have plenty of agencies to support us, 

but we just don't know what the goal is and how to get there because there is so much stuff 

happening that is unknown. 

 The fourth thing that I want to make sure that you guys are aware of is Farm Bill 2012. It 

seems pretty evident in my opinion, again, that something is going to happen and a change is 

going to be made in the dairy pricing segment – whether that is a good change or a bad price I 

don't think we will know for about 3-years – so I would be very cautious that we as a State do 

anything to mess with the system that we have until we see what that change is going to be at the 

federal level pricing mechanical systems, because we could make a change that we think is going 

to be better for Pennsylvania, and in 2012 we get a whole new set of federal rules, our change 

could be completely disastrous and we never saw it coming. So I just want to make sure we are 

all aware of that. 

 I will go back to the family business aspect one last time and then I will be done and 

maybe I can graciously share my minutes with the rest of the panel or for questions. The other 

thing you get with family businesses is most of them have owner/operators who are very 

knowledgeable about their business and I have never met a family business owner or operator yet 

that doesn't have an unparalleled passion for their business and I think today, from all segments, 

you saw people that have passion for this business that they are in. You know, taking time away 

from their jobs to come here and just in their testimony the passion eludes out of the 

Pennsylvania diary industry and I just, from my personal perspective in our company, we just 



can't say enough about how great it is to work with family businesses in Pennsylvania at all 

levels. 

 Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much. I do appreciate the extemporaneous 

quality of your comments. 

 Next is from the Dairy Farmers of America, Western Pennsylvania, Joyce Bupp. 

 MISS BUPP: Thank you for this opportunity to visit with you this afternoon. 

 Good afternoon. My name is Joyce Bupp. My husband Leroy and I operate Bupplynn 

Farms in southern York County. We milk 180 head of dairy cows, finish out about 60 dairy 

steers annually, and no-till crop 750 acres of corn, hay, soybeans, and small grains. 

 One of the best business decisions we have ever made was to market our milk as 

members of a dairy cooperative. 

 Cooperatives are one of the purest forms of democracy. In our dairy cooperative, Dairy 

Farmers of America, every member has an equal voting voice regardless of their size or volume 

of milk produced. Dairy Farmers of America is formed of seven regional councils, each 

governed by its own Board of Directors. Leadership of our cooperative is elected at local 

meetings by our members, allowing true grassroots development of our governing body and of 

our policy direction. I serve as a director of our Northeast DFA Area Council, which runs from 

Maryland to Maine, as well as serve as one of five regional directors at our Corporate Board. 

 A foundation of our corporate structure is the capital that each of our member-owners 

invests in our cooperative. By pooling our investment capital, the members of Dairy Farmers of 

America have developed valuable and reliable customers supply relationships with regional and 

national food businesses. Many of them are right here in Pennsylvania, contributing to our 



Pennsylvania jobs and economy; including Dean Foods, Schreiber, Weis Markets, and Hershey. 

 With our pooled investment capital, Dairy Farmers of America also owns and operates 

plants and businesses which process and manufacture a variety of products. Several are located 

in Pennsylvania, boosting our State and local economies, while helping to provide member 

markets and return on investment. Among those are our plant at Mechanicsburg which produces 

the dairy based coffee drink Frappuccino, Italian-variety cheeses which we make at Farmers 

Cheese in New Wilmington, our Kellers Butter plant in Harleysville, and our Dietrich's Plant in 

nearby Reading. There we produce a variety of dairy protein dry ingredients which are marketed 

both domestically and to growing economies around the world who are hungry for high quality 

U.S. dairy foods. 

 Agriculture is the backbone of Pennsylvania's economy and cooperatives are the 

backbone of agriculture. To maintain a stable dairy economy, here and nationwide, all dairy 

farmers must have a stable and fair price for the milk that our cows produce 365 days a year, 

holidays included. Dairy Farmers of America has been a leader in helping to develop programs 

and policies aimed at helping to stabilize those price swings and the havoc that these price 

extremes have wrought for our family farm businesses. These price swings are largely result of 

supply/demand imbalances and have generated economic whiplash in recent years for dairy 

farmers nationwide, as well as impacted prices for processors, retailers, and consumers. 

 Toward that goal, our cooperative has worked tirelessly with others to develop and 

implement Cooperatives Working Together, the CWT program, as well as the directional 

policies proposed in a new long-range program which we call Foundation for the Future. Both of 

these programs are the efforts of our cooperative and other cooperatives who work together to 

develop a unified voice on policy and programs to help all dairy farmers nationwide. 



 By working together cooperatively, we can be an effective force in the marketplace, an 

effective voice in the legislative and regulatory affairs, and maximize our efforts to strengthen 

Pennsylvania dairy farms and those nationwide. 

 Thank you very much for this opportunity to visit with you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much. 

 Our next testifier will be Richard Mosemann from the Maryland Virginia Milk Producers 

Cooperative Association. 

 MR. MOSEMANN: Good afternoon. 

 Thank you for the opportunity to share my thought this afternoon about the state of the 

Pennsylvania dairy industry. My name is Richard Mosemann and I own Misty Mountain Dairy 

LLC which is a dairy farm located in south-central Pennsylvania in Fulton County. Along with 

my sons Mark and Scott and my daughter-in-law Lauren and 10 employees, we milk 

approximately 370 cows and raise about 300 young stock. We have been members of Maryland 

& Virginia for approximately 30-years and I have been privileged to serve on the board for about 

20 of those years. Currently Maryland & Virginia markets nearly a billion pounds of milk per 

year from 768 members located in Pennsylvania. Being a member of a dairy cooperative is of 

critical importance to our dairy farm. Let me explain why. 

 I've not always marketed my milk through a cooperative, when I first started farming I 

was an independent dairy producer that sold my milk to a company in Pennsylvania. My firm 

belief was that if I produced a high quality product in sufficient amounts to sell, I would always 

have a market for my product. I had heard at that time a lot about cooperatives who had not been 

run efficiently and left members with debt and little equity and I didn't want to have anything to 

do with a co-op. 



 Well, the company that marketed my milk decided to downsize and one day I received a 

letter in the mail informing me along with others in my area that we had 60 days to find new 

markets. As it turn out they did us a favor, because Maryland & Virginia at that time was looking 

for producers and actually offered us a better market than what we had. But I vowed to myself 

that I would not put my family and my business in that position again and if I was going to be a 

part of an organization of dairy farmers I was going to try to play as active a role as I could to 

determine my future. Ten years later I was elected to the Board of Maryland & Virginia to 

represent my area. My goal was to ensure that the cooperative would market our products 

efficiently and maximize the returns to our members. Maryland & Virginia does that by bottling 

milk through three plants up and down the east coast and putting milk into two manufacturing 

plants. Over the years I feel that our cooperative has done an outstanding job in returning profits 

to our members. I also learned that milk marketing is a complex business. 

 There are three basic levels to be considered when talking about getting dairy products 

from the farm to consumers. First, consumers purchase most of their dairy products from retail 

outlets whose priority is to attract consumers, and they do that by marketing a quality product as 

competitively priced as possible. 

 Second, retail outlets purchase their dairy products from either distributors or direct from 

processors whose goal it is to negotiate the sale of their products for the maximum price while 

purchasing raw ingredients as competitively priced as possible. Finally, you have producers who 

must produce high quality milk as efficiently as possible and then work to sell or market their 

raw milk for the best price possible. 

 Because of the consolidation that has occurred in the industry from retail to distributor to 

processor, individual farmers have been put at a definite disadvantage unless they work together. 



The percentage of the retail dollar that goes back to dairy farmers has steadily declined over 

time. As an individual farmer I have little say over what premiums I can get for my milk, it is 

entirely up to the processor to give me what he wants. As a group of 1500 farmer-members, our 

cooperative has a better opportunity to negotiate on my behalf. And more so, as a group of 

cooperatives, dairy farmers have even more leverage not only in setting premiums but informing 

federal and State legislatures of our concerns. I feel strongly that in order for the family farm to 

survive, dairy cooperatives are going to play an even greater role than they have in the past. 

 About a month ago our cooperative received a notice from one of our primary retail 

customers that because of financial considerations they were going to move their business to a 

competitor. If I were still a single dairy farmer marketing my milk I'd have been in the same spot 

I was 30 years ago only I might not find a better market and it would have impacted a lot more 

people. Because I'm a part of a cooperative the impact is not nearly as great. Sure, we'll probably 

feel that loss in our profits this year. However, with Maryland & Virginia's reputation for quality 

products and service, I am confident we'll regain the business over time. It all goes back to the 

principle that as an individual business I don't have a lot of say, but as a larger group we can 

have more control over situations that impact us. 

 Thank you for giving me the time to explain why being a member of a dairy cooperative 

has such an impact on our dairy farm. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much, Mr. Mosemann.  

 Now we will hear from Tom Wakefield, excuse me, Jim Madigan of Dairylea 

Cooperative. 

 MR. MADIGAN: Thank you. 

 Good afternoon. I am Jim Madigan from Dairylea Cooperative. I have been on the Board 



about 28-years. I started farming with my father in Bradford County in the northern tier right out 

of high school in 1971. As I said, I am from Bradford County where Marcellus Shale gas 

exploration has created both income potential but has also created problems with labor and 

extreme traffic problems. 

 We milk 85 cows that are on our operation. It is a free stall loose housing. Plus, we graze 

in the summertime. We raise about 110 head of young stock including some grass-fed dairy beef. 

I do not have a written presentation, but you do have a handout from Dairylea and I am here to 

talk about some of the services we provide through Dairylea for our members to impact their 

quality of life on their home farms. 

 We have existed for over 100-years, and our original commitment was to market milk 

and try to create a better price for our members on their farms. Approximately 40 years ago Agri-

Services Agency was developed to deliver health insurance. Our Board of Directors at the time 

felt there was a need for quality health care for our dairy farmers. From that small start with 

BlueCross/BlueShield we are now a national entity insuring ag producers and their employees in 

all lower 48 States. 

 Eagle Dairy Direct was developed because of problems with infrastructure, in areas 

where there was not the infrastructure, people having problems getting products, supplies, and 

we were able to create a entity that through not much bricks and mortar sell directly to farms 

from wholesalers and create savings on the farm. We use it on our farm, Eagle Dairy Direct, by a 

lot of our commodities. I spent about $20,000 to put up bins and each year the savings I get 

through Eagle Dairy Direct pays for those bins annually, so it has been a very good choice to use 

that. 

 Agri-Max Financial Services, as you have heard, lines of credit, availability of capital to 



run our farms has been severely impacted over the last 2-years with dairy prices and our cost. 

Farmers do need a good source of credit to keep operating under these stressful times. 

 Dairy One Cooperative, Inc. offers laboratory analysis services for milk, feed, water, 

manure and soil, management records support, software solutions, plan development services. 

We use Dairy One quite a bit from our farm to do both manure and feed sampling through CGI 

which is a subsidiary of Dairy One we did a nutri-management plan 3-years ago. It helps us 

understand how much manure we can put on our land for fertilizer. It is phosphorus based 

instead of nitrogen based, which is what is required now through Chesapeake Bay Program, 

more all the time. 

 Risk Management Services. As you have heard, it does not matter what the price of milk 

is, it is what your margins are after you pay your variable costs of production. We have several 

different plans. Fence contracts, fixed price contracts, but the important is prices are going up is 

farmers are having upside riders where farmers can lock in a milk price that will cover their risk 

of milk prices sliding down, but also being able to capture those prices if they do go up. We have 

tried to educate farmers on how to use these services. It is very complicated, it is very emotional, 

but I think more and more people are starting to realize that, as I said, it does not matter what the 

price of milk is, it is the margins left after you pay those variable costs. 

 Empire Livestock Marketing. It is more based in New York State. We used to have one 

sale in Pennsylvania, it did not turn out very well so we abandoned Pennsylvania, but in New 

York State it is a very important part of people selling their livestock for both dairy replacements 

and cull cattle for beef.  

 Also, Agri-Edge Development. It helps people who need support in management, 

business planning and when in a growth situation financial consulting when they need help in 



that area. 

 Because we have worked with some of our sister co-ops, we are expanding some of these 

services throughout the nation so on the economic scale it has helped us create more income for 

our members and reduce the costs of running these programs. 

 As you have heard, I just want to close by saying that with the stress of dairy farming, 

fewer and fewer of us are doing it. When I was a youth there were seven Madigans milking cows 

on our hill and I am the last one. 

 Thank you very much for this opportunity. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: I hope Madigans will continue farming on your hill. 

 Concluding this panel will be Tom Wakefield from Land O'Lakes. 

 MR. WAKEFIELD: Thank you Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee. 

 My name is Tom Wakefield and I am a dairy farmer from Bedford County. My brother 

Jim and I own and operate J.T.J. Wakefield Farmers, Inc., a partnership that was established in 

1974. This is a family farm operation that has been in the family since 1890. We crop 600 acres 

of corn, alfalfa, grass hay, and soybeans. Our dairy herd consists of 160 cows and 160 heifers. 

My brother has a son that has graduated from Penn State, has a degree from Penn State. I have 

two sons currently at Penn State. Upon the completion of their education the sixth generation 

will be entering the operation.  

 I am also an elected Director of Land O'Lakes, a national dairy and farm input 

cooperative. I have held this position for 7-years. As a Director I am responsible for approving 

cooperative policy and the hiring of a Chief Officer Executive to lead the business of the 

cooperative. 

 The Congress of the United States has recognized that farming is a unique business 



environment. Generally speaking, agriculture is characterized as a marketplace with many sellers 

and few buyers, and for that reason, farmers are seen as price-takers. To rectify the imbalance of 

market power, the Congress passed the Capper-Volstead Act in 1922. This Act provides limited 

anti-trust protection for farmers, allowing them to band together to jointly market their 

agricultural products. It is through the authority of that Act that dairy farmers in Pennsylvania 

market their milk through cooperatives. 

 Cooperatives are the backbone of the milk marketing system in Pennsylvania. About two-

thirds of the State's dairy farmers market their milk as cooperative members, comprising about 7 

billion pounds of milk each year. Virtually every dairy plant in Pennsylvania buys milk from the 

State's dairy cooperatives. In some cases, the plants rely on the cooperatives to supply all of their 

milk needs, based on the customer's manufacturing schedules. In other cases, dealers with 

independent supplies rely on the cooperatives to balance their non-member supply by taking 

additional milk into the cooperative owned plants when milk supplies are long and to sell 

supplemental milk from their plants when sales are strong and supplies are short. 

 Milk plants can and often will routinely close their processing facilities, or drastically 

curtail operations for holiday and vacation periods. But the cows do not take vacations, so it is 

left for the cooperatives to market the farmers' milk. It is well known in the dairy industry, but 

not necessarily among the general public, that the Thanksgiving, and the Christmas to New Year 

holiday periods are the most stressful times for cooperative personnel and facilities. When the 

rest of the industry is on holiday, the cooperatives are working overtime, literally around the 

clock, to market the milk of the dairy farmer members as well as the milk of the independent 

farmers. 

 The farmers at this table have invested in manufacturing facilities to balance the ebb and 



flow of the regions dairy supply and demand. These facilities include the DFA owned Dietrich's 

plants in Reading and Middlebury Center, the Land O'Lakes plant in Carlisle, PA, and the 

Maryland & Virginia Cooperative's facilities in Laurel, MD and Strasburg, VA. These dairy 

plants process the excess milk into storable products such as butter and milk powders. These 

capital intensive facilities are expensive to build and also expensive to maintain because they 

take the shocks of the dairy marketing system. For example, Thursday's plant receipts are often 

only one-third as much as Saturday's deliveries. The month of Septembers receipts can be as low 

as one-quarter as much as May's receipts. 

 While the cooperatives invest to balance supply and demand in the marketplace, we are 

largely uncompensated for our efforts, although all market participants benefit. The economic 

realities are that balancing surplus milk is processed to the lowest valued products, such as butter 

and milk powders. As a function of supply and demand, the greatest volume of balancing is 

required when the value of surplus products is the lowest. On the other side of the market 

swings, when supply is short relative to demand and the value of milk is higher, the cooperatives 

balancing plants sit idle or unused, at a substantial cost to their farmer-owners. 

 The cooperatives market balancing services keep on-farm pay prices higher than they 

would be otherwise. When surplus volumes of milk have a home, the marketer of that milk is not 

forced to offer it at lower prices to find a market. Consequently, premium levels in the market 

can be higher and all farmers in the market benefit. 

 Mr. Chairman and Committee members, I thank you for this opportunity to speak to you 

today. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much. I want to emphasize that this panel, like 

so many of the others today, consists of people who have taken time out of their lives and their 



productive dairy pursuits to spend the time to help educate us and we very much appreciate it. 

 I have a question for the Milk Marketing Board, and it may not be something that you can 

answer off the top of your head, perhaps you could send along some information. With the 

minimum pricing set for producers, what percentage of milk sold is actually at that minimum 

price, and how much – I imagine that varies over time – but maybe you could, do you collect that 

sort of statistic? 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: That is information that I do not have as far as the producer 

level of it. There was a question earlier, Chairman Maher, making a statement about the value of 

that product and how much of that gets back to the dairy farmer. As I shared with you earlier, 

there are six marketing regions within Pennsylvania and they are all divided because of 

economic variability's. I am going to share with you the information from area four, which 

includes Harrisburg. The Class 1 price in the Harrisburg area four for the month of February was 

$21.97 per hundred.  

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: And that is the mailbox price? 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: Well, that would be the price that those producers would 

receive, yes. Now, that mailbox price changes because of deductions and so forth from their 

processor or the addition of premiums to that. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Again, I am not going to ask you to recite statistics off the top of 

your head. But, if you could, I am assuming the Milk Marketing Board collects data about what 

the actual sales price is compared to the minimum price for producers, maybe you could gather 

that information over the past several years in each of these regions and forward it to the 

Committee. That would be appreciated. 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: Yes, sure. 



 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Oh the wholesale minimum pricing, if a Pennsylvania dealer is 

selling his milk outside of Pennsylvania, does the Milk Marketing Board have jurisdiction on 

what that wholesale price is? 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: No, we do not. We have jurisdiction over milk produced, 

processed, and sold in Pennsylvania. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: So, conversely, if someone produces milk outside of 

Pennsylvania and wishes to sell it to a chain grocery store in Pennsylvania that wholesale 

minimum price really is irrelevant? 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: No, the minimum price if it is sold in Pennsylvania has to be 

sold at— 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: The wholesale price. 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: —at our minimum retail price, yes. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: So if a grocery store is purchasing milk FOB shipping point and 

that shipping point is in Maryland, your jurisdiction reaches? 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: The jurisdiction reaches, that processor can produce that milk 

but it has to be sold at the minimum price in Pennsylvania. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: You are talking about the retail price?  

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: Retail price. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: I am talking about the wholesale aspect. 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: Wholesale we have no control. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: You wouldn't have control. So we have a wholesale minimum 

that affects Pennsylvania wholesale, Pennsylvania retail, but really don't affect, if you change 

that combination of adding an out-of-State player. 



 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: Correct. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: And the other question would be, which is something for you all 

to think about, and we are not going to resolve today, but we heard testimony earlier that 

suggested that the dairy farmer and the dairy industry might actually benefit by eliminating a 

retail minimum price in so far as maybe we would see consumption of milk start to rival that of 

carbonated beverages, if it could be priced in a similar fashion to attract buyers. I am not asking 

you to express an opinion today, but at some day in the future I will hope to hear your opinions 

and if you wish to jot them down and send them along in the meantime I would be most 

interested. 

 Do we have questions otherwise for the panel? 

 Representative. 

 REPRESENTATIVE: Mr. Madigan, you eluded to the Marcellus Shale. How has that 

affected your ability to get labor and other ways? 

 MR. MADIGAN: Well, because of the labor I have actually reduced my herd from about 

135 milkers to 85. It is so hard to find people that are willing to work the hours at a dairy farm 

for what I can afford to pay them. In our area, just a quick example, we have kid that graduated 

from high school 2-years ago. He was working at McDonald's flipping burgers, good kid, but not 

the sharpest tack in the box, he now has a vehicle provided for him by a chemical company 

doing support work for one of the gas companies. He works 72-hours a week, which is probably 

what most workers would work on a dairy farm, and he will gross about $75,000 this year. Plus 

he has a vehicle provided. It is really tough to compete with that, and God bless him. The 

problem is we are left with those people who do not have a good working ethical ability to work 

or want to work, and I have been through two or three people in a few months. I lost my full time 



help to the gas industry last summer. He was a great guy, worked for me for 3-years, but I can't 

blame him. He can make so much better, it is a better opportunity for his family. I have had a 

traffic situation. We do not go out on the roads with the tractors, especially on the main roads 

any more than we absolutely have to. We are going into more custom operators hauling our 

forage with trucks so we compete with all of the other trucks that are on the road. But the gas 

companies have spent a lot of money improving the infrastructure. The road that I live on is 2.6 

miles long and was just a dirt road with a macadam topping, they came through last summer and 

repaved it. It probably rivals any road in the State of Pennsylvania now. We have 7 inches of 

asphalt, they built the base up a good 2-feet. As one person said, well, they didn't do it for us. I 

said, of course they didn't, but we get to use it. Now we have roads that the water trucks, all of 

the other trucks that they use, dump trucks, trucks used to carry the compressors for fracking and 

whatnot. We don't have to worry about them destroying our roads. Literally, my road a year ago, 

I had to put it in 4-wheel drive, my pickup, to get off my farm to the main road. Nobody was 

driving passenger cars on my road. That was how bad it became until they spent the money to fix 

these roads. Unfortunately, and I don't way to carry on too far here, but when these gas 

companies came in people were upset because they were destroying our roads. They said, well 

you don't understand, we went to Harrisburg to investigate what capacity these roads were 

supposed to be able to handle, and they were on the books that they would handle 20-ton plus 

loads. Unfortunately, they didn't. And they are willing to spend the money to repair them and 

have roads they can use. And like I said, there is a lot of potential for income from road and gas 

lines across our property. I am getting a retention pond built on my property this spring, and also 

the royalties that should come out of this gas business. Plus, we are going to become more self-

sustaining on natural gas for our country. 



 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Representative Karen Boback. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BOBACK: Thank you, Mr. Chair. 

 Mr. Kriebel, you had cited in your testimony that there is a base in store handling cost. I 

wasn't aware of that. Two questions, is that on every product or just dairy products, number one, 

and number two, does that vary by store? How does that impact the cost of milk or dairy? 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: We have, as I shared, we have these hearings which people 

provide testimony as to their costs and their increases and so forth. A lot of the in store handling 

costs are tied to the CPI which is the Consumer Price Index. In our law we are allowed to permit 

retailers and wholesalers or processors the opportunity for a 2.5 – 3.5 percent profit. So that is 

how we determine what their costs are and what is the amount of their cost of handling for that 

product. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BOBACK: And does that vary by store or is it regional? 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: We take a cross-section of the stores in that area, and it is like I 

shared, some of the high cost operators either they become efficient or they are left out of the 

marketplace. So we take the cross-section of all stores in that area and that is how we determine 

that price. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BOBACK: And that is every product? That is not just milk 

products? 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: No, that is basically fluid product or control products which we 

have the mandate to control. 

 REPRESENTATIVE BOBACK: Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Representative Tina Pickett. 

 REPRESENTATIVE PICKETT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  



 I just want to ask if I could have your indulgence for a moment. I thank the entire panel 

for bringing us some more of the intricacies of agriculture, but I want to thank Mr. Madigan in 

particular for representing Bradford County here today. We have someone from the Northern 

Tier here to talk about dairy, and I believe we are still number two. True, Mr. Madigan? Right 

behind Lancaster. 

 MR. MADIGAN: We are the third County. 

 REPRESENTATIVE PICKETT: Somebody took us out, we are number three. Okay, but 

we are still big in the game, so thank you Mr. Madigan for representing Bradford County today. 

 MR. MADIGAN: You're welcome. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Representative David Millard. 

 REPRESENTATIVE MILLARD: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

 Mr. Kriebel, this is going to really be directed towards you, but just a couple of 

comments here. 

 Today, this has been a terrific opportunity for the House Ag Committee to learn from the 

industry and all of the players from the producers on down regulators and everything else with 

what the concerns are. Today's topic of course is the state of the dairy industry here in 

Pennsylvania. And as we go from the farm gate to the dinner plate, we know the importance of 

the best practices as we really literally try to feed the world. Now, David Graybill had some 

comments earlier this morning that the Farm Bureau supports the continuance of the Milk 

Marketing Law, but he had some concerns as were previously mentioned here with abolishing 

the State minimum retail price. Mr. Rutter mentioned to us the apprehensiveness to change, that 

having stability in pricing and at least a methodology to do it is crucial and critical to our 

farmers. So the way that I am hearing this today is that the problem is not the formula, but the 



problem is the timing. So my question to you or just your thoughts here, is you mentioned in 

your testimony the number of public hearings and CPI and how this formula is derived. Would it 

be better to have more public hearings so that it would reflect real-time pricing? Would that 

provide the stability that the farmers are looking for? Would this also address in that process the 

drastic price swings that Mr. Rutter and others have referred to in their testimony today, and I 

believe that you referred to it as well. So that is my thought here, and my question for you to 

ponder. Thank you. 

 CHAIRMAN KRIEBEL: Do you care for me to relate to that? Pennsylvania is not unique 

in the volatility in dairy product pricing. We do have some stability because, as far as the retail 

end of it is concern, because of our minimum pricing. But the volatility comes about by the 

production. The more product that is available the lesser the value of it. It is just like you can 

make as many widgets as you want but if you can't sell them, you aren't going to sell them at the 

price you intended to. That is what creates the volatility. Some of the presenters have shared 

about the value of the export market, the value of the dollar, and all of those kinds of things. And 

all of those items impact our Federal Order Pricing and our prices are above Federal Order 

Pricing. That is how we maintain that. Through these public hearings we know the input costs of 

the processors, the retailers, and all of those kinds of things. We are very nimble in doing that. 

When one of the presenters made a statement that retail prices do not follow farm prices, well, 

we have material that can verify that almost to the penny. As farm prices, producer prices are 

reduced, retail prices are also reduced. Because that is an integral part of that price buildup. The 

producer price is here, then you add transportation and all of those other kinds of things on top of 

that. So if the producer price is down, that limits the value of that product that the retailer can sell 

it for.  



 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you. Mr. Rutter, as Representative Millard was presenting 

his question, it seemed to me that you were composing a response. Would you like to share that? 

 PRESIDENT RUTTER: I would. The first part was about more public hearings. I don't 

know how many we had last year, but it was probably 30. Any more and I am going to have to 

borrow a double so I can continue to run my business. The basis of your question was on the 

formulas. In 2008 I think everybody loved the formulas. In 2009 everybody loved the formulas, 

but the formulas did not change. The only thing that changed was that starting number that we 

get from the federal market administrator every month. So I will, again, my personal opinion and 

I think our industry, at least from the processor side, is let the federal government change how 

the market data is used to calculate that federal number and see what that does to our stability 

and the market reactivity of our pricing before we begin to touch this hugely complex 

Pennsylvania pricing system that we have. I think other than bits-and-pieces of it, I think that 

people agree it is a fair representation of the costs within the industry, but the federal price just 

does not react fast enough, and that is a whole other debate that the Senate is having on that 

calculation. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you all very much.  

 We will now move to our final panel of the day which deals with federal policy and the 

effects of the international market forces. Joining us are the Honorable Erick Coolidge who 

wears a number of hats, but is here today in connection with his voluntary service on the USDA's 

Dairy Industry Advisory Committee. Along with him is Dr. James Dunn, Professor of 

Agricultural Economics for Penn State's College of Agricultural Sciences. 

 Once again, thank you to Penn State for your letting your expertise, and thank you very 

much Mr. Coolidge. You do an awful lot on a voluntary basis and we appreciate your 



volunteering your time again today. 

 As I understand you are each expecting 10 minutes, and I am not sure who would like to 

proceed. If less is better that is okay too. 

 MR. COOLIDGE:I can accommodate that. 

 It would be easy to read a prepared document, and there are some exceptionally good 

comments that were provided by our Committee. The Dairy Industry Advisory Committee. Quite 

frankly, it was and is an honor and a privilege to be a part of such an august body to deal with 

something that has been occurring for 60-plus-years, and then be to accept the challenge to 

achieve outcome and recommendations in less than a year. However, that is not going to be 

accomplished by the mere Committee. That was really the other part of how the Committee 

derives some of its resolve or recommendations, by multiple presentations, DPAC, who is 

represented here today, the cost of sanders, multiple individuals would travel to Washington to 

stand before the Committee and express their thoughts and considerations on how we could 

achieve a balance or improve the volatility, a word that has been echoed here today on a number 

of occasions. Sustainability and profitability, those are the three subcommittees that the 

Chairman Andy Novakovic created. Let me at this point share with you a little bit about the 

composition of this Committee. We have Paul Borbeau from Vermont milking 700 head. We 

have Jay Bryant, Maryland & Virginia Milk Producers Cooperative, that would be processor and 

producer. They were represented here today very ably by Mr. Mosemann. We have James Krahn 

of the Oregon Dairyman's Association. If you will appreciate the fact as I mention the location, 

Oregon, Vermont, Maryland/Virginia represented, Randy Romanski replaced the former 

Secretary of Agriculture who succumbed to an accident while attending to build homes for 

Habitat for Humanity. Former Secretary of Wisconsin, and Randy Romanski stepped into that 



capacity bringing a wealth of experience having served in an under capacity in that State. 

 Bob Shupper who is a resident of this general vacinity, lives in Hershey on the retail side. 

Brought an immense amount of appreciation for what happens to the product when it reaches the 

store and what is the variable there, what is the margin and how does it impact me as a producer 

back at the farm? Ed Welch, Associated Milk Producers from Minnesota. Each of these general 

geographic areas brings their own complicated and challenges that those regions deal with, 

although many are overlapping. 

 We have Bob Wills. He and his wife own a small cheese company in Wisconsin. It was 

mentioned earlier about the different classifications and how milk is used and it applies for 

different uses. If it a hard product or a fluid product. There are variables there, that is a 

discussion for another 24-days. We have Ray Souza, milks 900 head of cattle in Turlock, 

California. Certainly in our debate you may have heard about California's approach toward 

marketing. They have multiple, five different market orders in that general area. And then we 

talked about solids, and that is a program that we recommend deserves further investigation as to 

its impact. Deb Erb and her husband, small farm and also on farm cheese operation. 

 Ed Maltby, The Northeast Organic Dairy Producers Alliance for Massachusetts. Jim 

Goodman, Northwood Farms Wisconsin. I would like to compare him to Tim Den Dulk of Tim 

Den Dulk Limited out of Michigan. You see, Jim Goodman milks about 38-40 cows, Tim Den 

Dulk has ownership in 68,000 cows. So you can imagine how the diversity of that discussion 

would occur and, oh, by the way, Jim Goodman is organic. 

 We have Patricia Stroup who is originally from this area, is with Nestle and procures 

about $1 billion worth of powder a year for that corporation. And with a background growing up 

on a farm, her father a veterinarian, her sister has a farm, sounds like I am giving a litany on 



everyone here. But to appreciate it means something. It means there is an understanding and an 

appreciation for what you brought to the discussion and that discussion has an outcome. And that 

outcome must and has to be others centered. No one was there with an agenda. I wanted that to 

be a part of this presentation. 

 Ricky Williams, from Georgia, has a trucking business. Seventy-two trucks on the road 

hauling milk. A farm milking a couple hundred head, raises corn and other commodities in the 

Georgia area. And an appreciation was shared that that region is in a shortfall of milk from 

August to about April. So when you start to talk about regions that have an over, and it was 

mentioned here earlier about being able to market a product when you saturate the market it 

depreciates its value, however, in Georgia, that is a different kind of scenario. So when you start 

to come up with policy or recommendations, you must include all of the variables to come up 

with fair and equitable distribution and decision making. 

 And finally, Andy Novakovic. Without question was the only individual with the 

capacity he has in 30-some years in teaching economics at Cornell and his ability to lead this 

group, there was no question he was the appropriate choice. He brought the discussion when it 

would debate impacts that have occurred over many number of years, and also the economic side 

of it with his contributing factor not just nationally but internationally. So creating a thorough 

and very valuable positive outcome. 

 And then there is this farmer from Tioga County that had a chance to serve as Vice-

Chair. Totally taken back by the privilege, but absolutely humbled to be a part of it. I want to 

thank Secretary Wolff who is in this audience today for allowing me to serve on committees such 

as the Center for Dairy Excellence, the Dairy Task Force, the Conservation District and a couple 

of others, but it was that opportunity that created an appreciation for being able to contribute on 



behalf of this Commonwealth and I want to thank Secretary Redding and John Frey who is the 

Director for the Center for Dairy Excellence for helping me to compose, and you have the letter 

in your packet. It was forwarded to the Committee. The Committee, if you will look across, I 

also forwarded you the various recommendations. On the front page there are a number of 

suggestions and you can correlate them on many areas on this Committee on a national basis was 

dealing with. So the very point I really want to get across is, your Commonwealth, your 

Department of Agriculture and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania had a dramatic impact and 

also sees it, gets it and conveyed it in a manner that we were able to incorporate it. So what we 

will recommend to the Secretary, tomorrow is our conference call for the ultimate decision with 

an alternative on the 18th if we are not able to reach a conclusion, but you had a play in it. Your 

Commonwealth and your Department of Agriculture.  

 I want to put on my promotion hat. You have Cooperative Extension represented here so 

capably by the College of Agriculture. They have had an impact on the farm and the production 

units in this Commonwealth. The Department of Agriculture, with its various programs, I believe 

Secretary Wolff would be responsible for the Dairy Profit Teams, transition teams, our farm 

particularly benefitted from the Dairy Profit Team. We went from middle of the production unit 

to the top herd in our County applying practices that were generated by your Department of 

Agriculture.  

 So when it comes to looking at dollars and cents, and I am about to be stopped here, think 

about the impacts. I will just refer you to, it was the third stanza in the letter. Paragraph, I should 

say. "How important is agriculture to the economy? It is an engine. Feed that engine and you will 

stir the economy of this Commonwealth." 

 And if I may, Marcellus Shale. I don't want to step away from this mike until I address 



Marcellus Shale. Please. We have an opportunity. It will be an egregious error if we do not look 

into this more diligently. If in fact we look at the opportunity to invite participation by the 

industry I happen to have number one and number two oil and gas drilling companies in the 

world literally in my backyard. It isn't just the Marcellus Shale. It is the Utica. It is the Trenton 

Black River. And maybe more. That will be determined. It is not a partnership and it isn't all 

profit. It is with challenge, and as an elected official for 16-years I am seeing it in our health and 

human services area, I am seeing it in many others: incarceration, courts, name it. What we can 

do is seek to invite the participation. Mr. Madigan shared the challenges we have on the dairy 

side. It was also a pass-through while we watched people who had their CDLs (commercial 

drivers license) leave and go to the oil and gas industry that pass through come back to the 

producers side for additional charge at the farm. We can share this, but if we don't get something 

created in terms of working relationship on the front end, we won't get it on the back end and 

while the researchers are being drawn, lets invite our participation. Let's place those dollars in 

PDA, in DCNR, in forestry and save those dollars to the General Fund to help offset some 

challenges we have as county elected officials to do the services that we are mandated to do, but 

that we have an obligation to do. 

 Thank you for that privilege, and I hope I didn't overstep my bound. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much, Mr. Coolidge, and thank you for the 

advance peek at the proposed final federal recommendations and I trust that we can count on you 

to settle on the final product when it is available. 

 MR. COOLIDGE: I promise. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you, sir. 

 Dr. Dunn. 



 DR. DUNN: Thank you for allowing me to speak on this issue today. I would start out by 

saying that federal policy in the dairy industry is unbelievably complex and there is a saying in 

the industry that one in 10 people claim to understand how milk is priced completely and those 

ten are lying.  

 We used to have a 2-credit course in Dairy Marketing for the whole semester, so I'm not 

going to tell you all of that. I really just compared a few points that I think are very important 

within the context of what is going on here. 

 I will start out by saying that the industry doesn't exist in a vacuum. We compete in the 

international market place, we have the Federal Dairy Policy which determines how milk is 

priced, and of course Mr. Coolidge just referred to the issues associated with figuring out how to 

change something like that when you have a national industry with very different structure in 

different places and various things like that. And of course, our Milk Marketing Board has 

influences on some of the rules within the Commonwealth, but the Constitution and freedom to 

trade across State borders really limits what they can do. 

 I am going to start with a little context. Perhaps we could show the first slide, here. The 

productivity of dairy farms has increased every year during my lifetime, and no doubt will before 

that. I have indexed this information, but what we see here with the red line – that is the milk per 

cow. That goes up every year, it wiggles a little bit, but it increases faster than the population of 

the United States. So that means that if nothing else happens, if we don't sell any milk overseas, 

we need fewer cows every year. Furthermore, the number of cows per farm goes up every year 

and so as a result, you see these are national figures, the number of dairy farms over this 20-year 

period have decreased by two-thirds. Pennsylvania's numbers are a little different than that, but 

the essence of it is the same. I am sure that Mr. Coolidge and all of the farmers here can tell you 



how many fewer farms they have in their region than they had 20-years ago or 10-years ago. So 

that is a very important issue and the essence of it is that if we don't export milk by more than we 

import, this shrinkage is going to be greater to the extent that we export on a large scale, that will 

help our industry basically take the successes that we have seen on the farm and within the 

processing industry and other places and basically not have the dramatic shrinkage we would 

have had otherwise. 

 Exporting is important to us in another sense. This is a moving average of the last 4-years 

when the United States has been an exporter of milk. We were not before, and you can see that in 

2008 and 2007 when we exported milk the price of milk was high, in 2009 when the dollar went 

up sharply and our exports fell the price of milk fell with it, 2010 exports are back up and so is 

the price of milk. It looks like the exports are going to be very nice in 2011 the price is going to 

be higher than what we see there. So the idea that Pennsylvania is an island in of itself in this 

industry is first of all not the case, and secondly rather short sighted given the fact that if we 

don't participate in the world economy we won't like what happens next. 

 Now, to say that the system of pricing is complex is a vast understatement. I'll show you 

the next slide, if you will. We used to have a price support program that was supportive, it also 

was costing us billions of dollars a year and so in the mid-eighties ratcheting down was 

negotiated and since 1988 we have a support price but it doesn't provide any support whatsoever. 

You can see that since then we have had a lot of volatility and more recently we have had more 

volatility than we have in the past. The other thing that is very important about this particular 

picture is that if you look at the average price during that time, and keep in mind that 1988 is a 

good time past, the farm price hasn't really gone anywhere during that time. So, and I would 

point out that the money left to pay the bills involves items that have changed in price during that 



time. You can start with gasoline and go down through everything else that you have and the net 

effect of course is that if a farmer stays at the same size with the same productivity the farmers 

standard of living is going to drop steadily and it is no wonder that we have seen the 

consolidation in the industry that we have, and I might say that these trends are not just limited to 

this period, the size of dairy farms in Pennsylvania has shrunk steadily my whole lifetime and I 

never went back farther to find out if it happened then, but I know out in South Dakota where I 

am from the other farms got bigger, so I'm sure the dairy farms have as well. What's happened is 

of course that the amount of money to buy stuff is less, the farms inputs, a lot of them are 

petroleum based and went up more, the ones that aren't petroleum based went up anyway and the 

amount left to feed your family is less. 

 We are a major exporter of dairy products. Go to the next slide, please. This is from 

2008. I have a comparable slide that I did not include from 1996. The European Union has about 

a third of the market. It used to be more, but the world exports have grown dramatically. The 

expansion of New Zealand has occurred and the others. The United States share is about the 

same as it was a long time ago, it's just a much bigger pie. But we are a major player in this 

industry. In 2013 the European Union is going to end their dairy quotas, or so they say now, and 

if they do that is going to cause a tremendous shake-up in the industry because there are many 

very small farms that are protected by that policy. I have cousins in Ireland that have a farm of 

four cows. My grandfather had a much bigger farm when I was about 4-years old. SO the point 

of it is that there is going to be a big restructuring in Europe. A lot of farms are going to be going 

out of dairy. The industry will move to lower cost areas because of some of the issues we heard 

earlier about labor costs and things like that. And the net effect of all of this is that our share of 

this could grow during that period. The ability for New Zealand to grow dramatically is 



overestimated. The Dean talked about world population growth and the need to continue 

productivity growth in agriculture and I would stress that. As the world population grows from 7 

million to 9 million the need for Pennsylvania and the United States to participate in feeding 

these people and keeping the price affordable, keeping in mind that most of that population 

growth is going to be in places that don't have much money. Europe is going to shrink in the next 

4-years, our population is essentially only growing by immigration and a little bit of 

demographics because of a relatively large number of young people in Europe or Japan and I 

think that competitive marketplace is going to be a place where the U.S. can compete and we 

will play a vital role but the actions of the Pennsylvania government has to be taken within the 

context of the fact that there is a limit to what you can do. Certainly things need to be done at the 

federal level. That volatility is inexcusable. I am certainly happy my salary doesn't move like 

that. The actions for that are going to be done, I hope, by Mr. Coolidge's Committee and so on. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you very much, doctor. Enlightening. Certainly 

Pennsylvania is tied to the world market whether we like it or not. You mentioned you had 

offered a 2-credit course in Milk Marketing, milk pricing. Did anybody ever get an "A"? 

 DR. DUNN: Oh, yes.  

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Could you send their resumes along? 

 DR. DUNN: Keep in mind you don't have to be the world's leading expert to be one of 

the more knowledgeable people on campus. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you. 

 Mr. Coolidge. 

 MR. COOLIDGE: Mr. Chairman, with permission. I would like to address a question by 

Representative Boback. The question was in regard to residue from antibiotics. 



 Please appreciate, and for anyone listening. If that is detected that load is immediately 

rejected. There are penalties imposed, and that will be a record that will be kept. So it does not 

enter into the food chain and to rest in peace of mind that these safe guards are put in place for 

you and me. I am a consumer as well because eating is a form of agriculture for all of us and we 

all care and are responsible to that. So I really wanted to raise my hand but that wasn't part of the 

protocol, but I am grateful you allowed me to answer that. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Thank you.  

 Representative Mirabito. 

 REPRESENTATIVE MIRABITO: I know it is late in the day, but I couldn't let you go 

without asking you. Could you just tell us in a nutshell what New Zealand and the European 

Union are doing differently that maybe gives more stability to their prices, if anything? 

 DR. DUNN: Well, there are two answers to that. The New Zealand answer and the 

European answer could not be more different. New Zealand has essentially entirely three 

markets. Their agricultural policy became so restrictive that they were essentially killing their 

economy. They had something that had called "support all around" whether it be labor unions or 

subsidized agriculture or subsidized other industries and they finally realized that they would just 

have to go cold turkey, get out of that business and then be as competitive as we can. They have 

a low cost industry where they don't have a lot of competition for land other than dairy so we 

don't have the Pennsylvania issue, the suburban infringement into traditional agriculture areas, 

and they basically export 95% or some significant portion of milk at the world price and are very 

good at it. 

 Europe has a highly restrictive high cost industry that is surrounded by a tariff wall. I 

lived in Ireland for a year, Ireland has a seasonal dairy industry and so they have the most milk 



when everybody else has the most milk and all of the product except for what they consumed in 

the relatively small population went into cheese, butter, and powdered milk was sold into what's 

called intervention, exported at half what the government paid for it, and sold to Saudi Arabia 

and miscellaneous places at a tremendous cost for the taxpayer. 

 So there are two very different answers. Australia has followed New Zealand and gotten 

rid of a very restrictive set of policies on dairy about 1999 or so. 

 CHAIRMAN MAHER: Well, thank you both and again, thank you to all those who 

contributed their wisdom and the attempt to educate members of this Committee. I hope some of 

those who may have been fortunate enough to catch a bit of this through the channel of PCN. We 

really do appreciate very much, there is a lot of complications, that has become clear. Dairy 

industry is not homogenous, that has become clear. The product may be, but the industry is not. 

We appreciate your taking the time to educate us. 

 Thank you very much. 

 (Whereupon, the meeting adjourned at 12:03 p.m.) 
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